
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 15 May 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 
Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair) 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 
Gareth Bacon AM 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 

David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 7 May 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525;  
Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, Assembly Communications Manager;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 15 May 2019 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements 

for the Committee, as agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 

2 May 2019. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Chair) 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Deputy Chair) 

Gareth Bacon AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 

Tom Copley AM 

David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 

Keith Prince AM  

Caroline Russell AM 

Navin Shah AM 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note its terms of reference, which were agreed 

by the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly at its meeting on 2 May 2019, as 

follows: 

 

1. To examine and report from time to time on –  

 the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor, Transport for London, and the other 

Functional Bodies where appropriate; and 

 matters of importance to Greater London 

 

as they relate to transport in London. 

 

2. To examine and report to the Assembly from time to time on the Mayor’s Transport 

Strategy, in particular its implementation and revision. 

 

3. To take into account in its deliberations the cross-cutting themes of: the health of 

persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable development in the United 

Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of opportunity. 

 

4. To oversee the work of the London Transport Users’ Committee (operating as London 

TravelWatch), to receive regular monitoring reports from that Committee and support its 

consultative programme.  To negotiate with the Mayor for the annual budget for the 

London Transport Users’ Committee and to recommend to the Assembly, through the 

GLA Oversight Committee, an annual budget for the London Transport Users’ Committee. 

 

5. To discharge the responsibilities and functions of the Assembly in respect of the London 

Transport Users’ Committee under the GLA Act 1999, in particular sections 247 – 252 and 

Schedules 18 and 19. 

 

6. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes when within 

its terms of reference. 
 
 

  
 
 



 

5 
 

5 Standing Delegations  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following standing delegations, as 

agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019: 
 
At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general authority to 
Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on the relevant committee 
or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead Members of the party Groups 
on the committee or sub-committee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and 
there is insufficient time to consider the consultation at a committee meeting. 
 
On 21 July 2005, the Transport Committee resolved:  
 
To delegate the Chair of the Transport Committee, in consultation with the Deputy Chair, to take action 
in accordance with the functions of the Assembly listed in respect of the London Transport Users 
Committee under the GLA Act 1999. 

 

On 9 June 2005, the Transport Committee resolved: 

 
Future requests by LTUC1 office holders to take on directorships/offices in other organisations be 
delegated to the Chair of the Transport Committee in consultation with the Party Spokespeople on the 
Transport Committee and following advice from the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 
[It is a requirement of the Terms and Conditions of Membership of LTUC that the appointee will “seek 
the London Assembly’s approval if he/she wishes to assume any further directorships or offices at any 
time during the period of their appointment”]” 

 

On 14 July 2011, the Transport Committee resolved: 
 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party 
Group Lead Members, to approve the issue of directions or appropriate guidance to the Chief 
Executive of London TravelWatch. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 56) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 25 April 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 

record. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 56 are attached for Members and officers 
only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

  
 
 

                                                 
1 London TravelWatch is the operating title of the London Transport Users Committee 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


 

6 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 57 - 62) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

8 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 63 - 112) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by the Chair under 
delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members. 
 

 The Committee’s report Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track is attached for Members and 

officers only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crossrail-

delay-report 
 
 

9 Tram and Bus Safety in London (Pages 113 - 114) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2850  

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to guests on tram and bus 

safety in London and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the final output for the investigation into Tram and Bus 

Safety in London.  
 
 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crossrail-delay-report
http://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crossrail-delay-report
mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


 

7 
 

10 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 115 - 118) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2850 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for 2019/20 Assembly year as set out in the report; 

and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and party 

Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for an 

investigation into London’s transport now and in the future. 
 
 

11 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 10 July 2019 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber. 
 
 

12 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 15 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Thursday 25 April 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 

Copies of the minutes may be found at:  

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 

Present: 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 

Shaun Bailey AM 

Tom Copley AM 

David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 

Steve O'Connell AM 

Keith Prince AM 

Caroline Russell AM 

Navin Shah AM 

 

 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 

1.2 During the course of the meeting, the Chair placed on record her thanks to Committee 

Members and the officers supporting the Committee for their work over the last Assembly 

year. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 25 April 2019 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 

14 March 2019 be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee, and additional correspondence received, be noted. 

 
 
5   Commissioner of Transport for London (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the work of Transport for London (TfL) to the Commissioner, Mike 

Brown MVO. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion, the Commissioner agreed to the following actions: 

 To provide a written response to the recommendations from the Committee’s report, 

Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track;  

 To send the Committee a sample of the daily update emails from the Commissioner to 

the Mayor; 

 To arrange a visit with Florence Eshalomi AM to the Tulse Hill Gyratory;  

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 25 April 2019 

 

 
 

 To write on the detail behind recent changes to the TfL scorecards, to include the 

measures around measuring trip distances and road traffic volumes; 

 To work with the Committee to arrange a visit to see TfL’s bus safety training; 

 To provide more detail on TfL’s work regarding metroisation of rail services into 

Moorgate station; 

 To provide detail of any discussions or work undertaken with the Department for 

Transport on establishing a national database of taxi and public hire vehicle drivers; 

 To share the analysis undertaken by TfL around the decision to reduce the working life 

of London taxi cabs, to include equalities assessments, numbers of taxis affected, 

compensation and air quality impacts; 

 To arrange a meeting with Members to discuss issues relating to the taxi and private hire 

vehicles raised at the meeting; 

 To provide regular updates to Members on progress being made in reviewing bus routes 

in outer London, including those around hospitals; 

 To write on the rationale behind allowing the responsive bus trial in Sutton to use Euro 6 

‘Vito’ vehicles; and 

 To provide detail on work being undertaken on express and orbital bus routes, following 

a recommendation by the Committee. 

 

5.4 Resolved: 

 

 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
6   Responses to Broken Rails Report (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

That the responses received to the Committee’s report, Broken Rails: A rail service 

fit for passengers, as attached at Appendices 1 and 2 to the report, be noted. 

 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 25 April 2019 

 

 
 

7   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the Committee’s work programme for the remainder of the 

2018/19 Assembly year be agreed; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair 

and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for 

the Committee’s first investigation of the 2019/20 Assembly year, bus and tram 

safety. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday 15 May 2019 at 10.00am 

in Committee Room 5, subject to confirmation at the London Assembly’s Annual Meeting on 

2 May 2019. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.50 pm. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
    

Chair   Date 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 8



  
 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Transport Committee – 25 April 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Commissioner of Transport for London 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We now move to our annual session with the Commissioner, 

Mike Brown MVO.  Thank you very much for coming in today, Mike.  We want to chat through our work plan 

over the last year and some of our reports.   

 

First of all, I would like to talk to you about Crossrail, which is our most recent report published this week, 

Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track, which follows months and months of our hearings here at City Hall 

and wading through thousands of pages of summons documents, emails, minutes of meetings and so on.  We 

made 11 strong recommendations, but obviously, to start off with, I wanted to pick up our Recommendation 9:  

“Given the strong evidence presented in this report, we recommend that the Commissioner reflects on whether 

he is fit to fulfill his role in Transport for London (TfL)”.  I was wondering if perhaps we could address that one 

first, and then we can move into the rest of the report. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, Transport for London):  No, I am not reflecting on whether I am fit to 

be in position.  I believe I am.  I have the full support of the Mayor.  That is the end of that issue from my point 

of view. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Do you regret seeing, as we have in black and white in our report, 

where some of the messages were watered down to the Mayor, that you were not as timely perhaps in those 

messages about the risk reaching the Mayor of London? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No.  The messages reached the Mayor consistently.  I meet with 

the Mayor at least once every fortnight for the regular TfL/Mayor meeting.  Actually, it is very unusual I do not 

see the Mayor on a much more frequent basis than that at various events or whatever.  As well as that, 

Mark Wild [Chief Executive, Crossrail], who was then part of my team and of course sat as the TfL 

representative on the Crossrail Board, met with the Mayor’s Chief of Staff and met with the Deputy Mayor.  I 

meet with the Deputy Mayor on a weekly basis.  These issues, these concerns, these emerging risks, were 

raised consistently at TfL Board meetings in January, March, May, July of last year [2018].  February, May, 

July saw Programmes & Investment Committee of the TfL Board.  There were Finance Committee meetings in 

March and July.  There were regular TfL/Mayor meetings where Crossrail was the specific item, 

notwithstanding the informal discussions we had on a more regular basis in January, May and July last year as 

well.  At all of these sessions it is on the public record that emerging risks from the Crossrail programme were 

very explicitly highlighted.   

 

The weekly reports referred to in your report had a red-amber-green (RAG) status attached to them at the 

back of the report where it was very clear that, although there were risks - some of them red, some of them 

amber - fundamentally in all of those reports right up until the end of August last year, the date of 9 December 

was being held, and in all discussions, every single discussion with the then-Chair and Chief Executive of 

Crossrail, right up until that end of August revelation, it was very clear that they were holding to the 

9 December date. 

 

Page 9



  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK, but we will put the Crossrail Executive to one side.  We have been 

very critical of them in our report as well.   

 

We have emails.  For example, “The wording was amended by Mike so the setbacks appeared less serious”.  

That was from May.  We have other ones where you have removed issues and it has been clearly stated: 

 

“Mike, he is not happy including the paragraph because there was no mention of it at last week’s 

meeting with the Mayor.  He doesn’t want to reference train availability and reliability issues as one of 

the causes of any problems with the testing windows.”   

 

From the beginning of August, a draft said, “The current forecast to the start of stage 3 is to be confirmed”, 

and then that was changed back to the December date in the briefing to the Mayor.  Do you not accept that 

changes were made in briefings to the Mayor that perhaps watered down some of the risks? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is very important I think that in any briefing given to the Mayor 

you would expect the Chief Executive - the Commissioner in this case - to ensure that there was consistency 

and coherence in the messages being given to the Mayor.  I was under no doubt and could not have been 

under doubt - and I know you want to leave the Crossrail team aside but let me be very clear - the then-Chief 

Executive and particularly the then-Chair were absolutely adamant that the end of December date was going 

to be achieved.  Notwithstanding some of the risks that had emerged and right back to the beginning, and I 

think you mention it in your report -- forgive me, because obviously your report was only issued a couple of 

days ago, so we have not had the chance to go through it in great, granular detail, but it did mention the 

Pudding Mill Lane power mobilisation event causing an issue.  Right from those events, there were very explicit 

and indeed public issues being raised about concerns having happened.   

 

I was very open with my discussions with the Mayor, as indeed was Mark Wild.  When the Crossrail team came 

to the TfL meetings that we had with the Mayor, both before their arrival to brief the Mayor and afterwards, 

we had separate discussions with the Deputy Mayor and the Chief of Staff where we helped frame the types of 

questions we would want to ask for clarification from the Crossrail Chair and the Chief Executive, and 

afterwards we reviewed what they had said.  On all of those occasions, being absolutely clear with the risk of 

repeating myself, the 9 December date was being held.  That is the headline issue.   

 

The issue about any particular wording is around consistency and coherence of message.  It is incumbent on 

me to ensure that the Mayor gets a consistent and coherent set of briefings.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will probably have to disagree on that point because I think it is 

very clear the messaging that was going to Mayor was not as strong as it should have been.  If you are one of 

the sponsors, TfL is one of the sponsors, you would have received the Jacobs reports, the independent reports, 

and from January they were saying that the opening in December was unlikely; there was a significant risk.  

Was that being communicated to the Mayor of London?  What were you doing about that?  These are 

supposedly independent experts.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Not only was it being communicated to the Mayor of London, it 

was being stated out loud at TfL Board meetings, at Programmes & Investment Committee meetings, the ones 

I mentioned, those nine separate meetings.  Indeed, at my own Elizabeth Line Readiness Boards that I held in 

January, February, March, April, May and June of 2018, indeed also in July 2018, all of those issues were 

being properly raised and questioned back to the Crossrail team at that time.   

 

Page 10



  
 

 

What was interesting, if you just recall the timeline - and I know we talked about some of this in December, 

and I am obviously happy to go over all of that again - it was at the end of July where the written ministerial 

statement, I think it was the last day of parliamentary session in Westminster, actually authorised an additional 

£300 million of spend.  That was on the back of the Chair of Crossrail being categoric, out loud, in public, 

saying that £211 million was the amount of money that was needed in addition to the £600 million of TfL 

contingency that had already been used, and that that £211 million was to guarantee the opening date being 

preserved of 9 December.  In his first meeting with the new Deputy Mayor when she took over in June, the 

Deputy Mayor reminded me as we were talking a few days ago that the first thing that the Chair of Crossrail 

said to her was, “Put the date of 9 December in your diary firmly.  It is going to happen”.  I think we have to be 

very clear about the consistency of messages here.  There was lots of questioning within the Mayor’s meetings.  

There were lots of discussions with the Mayor, with the Deputy Mayor, between Mark Wild, who was then our 

representative on the Crossrail Board.  I do not want to confuse his current role with what his role was then, 

but he was our representative on the Crossrail Board.  There were lots of briefings from him as to the emerging 

risks in advance and indeed after any mayoral meetings on Crossrail.  A huge amount of information was going 

to the Mayor. 

 

The one thing, Chair, I would just say is, right from day one with this Mayor - and it is also true right from my 

appointment as Interim Commissioner in the time of the previous mayoralty - I have absolutely been candid 

and open on every subject with the Mayor.  I send the Mayor a daily report 364 days a year.  That is seven days 

a week.  The only day I do not do it is Christmas Day because we do not run any services. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That would look a bit unhealthy! 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I send it every morning between 7.00am and 8.00am with an 

unabridged, detailed summary of the status of our networks.  If there happens to be a delay, for example, as 

there was this morning on the Piccadilly line because of a signal failure at South Ealing on that Acton to 

Heathrow section, that is in that report.  I will be candid and open about anything, including our own failings 

and our own shortcomings, because that is the relationship the Mayor has encouraged with me, as indeed did 

the previous Mayor, I will say.  I absolutely would not want to work for a Mayor that wanted it any other way. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK, but what I want to pick up is that Jacobs were these independent 

reviewers in January last year.  They said there is a significant risk to stage 3 opening.  The TfL Board minutes 

said, “There are some increasing costs and schedule pressures, but the programme for December 2018 remains 

on track”.  Clearly, not true. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It was the view of the Crossrail team.  It was the view of those 

who were running the project, Chair.  Let me be absolutely clear.  We had a representative on the Crossrail 

Board.  We were a co-sponsor with the Department for Transport (DfT).  Ultimately, the accountability and 

responsibility for delivering this project was with the independent Chair and independent Board of Crossrail.  

That is the way the organisation was set up.   

 

If I may, Chair, I will say that some of your recommendations around future governance arrangements and 

other things are extraordinarily helpful at first glance and are things that we have already put in place.  For 

example, unlike in the previous administration, I now attend the end of every single Crossrail Board.  I did so a 

week ago, just before Easter, where I attended the session of the new Chair, Tony Meggs, his Deputy, 

Nick Raynsford, and other Board members.  In fact, every single other Board member gives their perspective on 

the programme and some of the issues that exist, and the Chief Executive then gives a summary.  That facility 

simply was not open to us in the previous iteration of the way the Board worked.  You had to take it as fact 

Page 11



  
 

 

that the Jacobs report or any other report highlighting risks to the programme was being taken and absorbed 

by the Crossrail team, and they were coming back consistently in public at all those meetings I outlined, to the 

TfL Board, the Programmes & Investment Committee, sometimes in the face of some quite intense scrutiny 

questions from TfL Board members, from myself, from other members of my executive team, and they were 

coming back and saying, “Yes, there are risks.  Here is what we are doing.  We are managing these risks.  We 

are sorting them out”.   

 

I visited Maidenhead, the constituency of the Prime Minister, as part of this.  I visited Maidenhead on 15 June.  

That was a visit set up by Crossrail.  The briefing I had for that meeting was, “Tell the Prime Minister it is 

absolutely certain we are going to meet 9 December”.  Never mind the Mayor; I certainly would not brief either 

the Mayor incorrectly or the Prime Minister incorrectly if I felt that there was a risk to the programme, given 

what I had been assured of the project.  I visited Farringdon Station on 5 July with the then-Chair of Crossrail 

and Mark Carne, the then-Chief Executive of Network Rail.  I specifically remember asking questions of the 

Chair at that time as to what needed still to be done at that specific station and whether that was replicated 

elsewhere.  In particular, there is a unique design of an incline lift at that station.  He assured me, “Mike, don’t 

worry.  It’s all under control.  Everything is going to be delivered.  It will be fully commissioned, fully delivered 

by 9 December”.  The Deputy Mayor on her appointment, her first conversation with me - I had never met her 

before - was, “Mike, what keeps you awake at night?”  I said, “Crossrail and its programme, and indeed Bond 

Street Station”.  You can ask her that.  She recalls it very well.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I am listening to everything you are saying, but I want to get back to 

the point that the independent reviewer was appointed by the sponsors to give you assurance.  Why were you 

not looking at that separately and saying to Crossrail, “Come on, we have these experts saying this”, and using 

that information?  It seems to me you have paid a fortune probably for Jacobs to be in there at the heart of 

Crossrail.  They were sending out far bigger warnings, and Crossrail was saying, “No, everything is all right”.  It 

clearly was not.  Why were they not being listened to?  Obviously, one of our recommendations is how you 

build that in to strengthen that role for future projects.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I certainly agree with that second point that strengthening that 

role for future projects is really important, and I think it is always easy with the benefit of hindsight to say we 

might have dug in and indeed taken over the role of Crossrail and managing the project on the back of the 

Jacobs review.  We did apply on the back of the Jacobs review a huge amount of scrutiny and questioning of 

the Crossrail team, and those assurances were forthcoming.   

 

As I say, they were not just forthcoming in words that were emerging from the team.  They were emerging in 

terms of substance, and the substance being in particular, as I said, the parliamentary statement at the end of 

July about the release of a further £300 million to secure the December date.  There was a huge degree of 

putting their money where their mouth was from the Crossrail project and saying, “That is all we need”.  “I 

commit”, the Chair said to me, “I will not come back and ask for a single additional penny beyond”.  Actually, 

he said £211 million.  We were putting £300 million in for an element of appropriate contingency in our 

discussions with the other joint sponsor.   

 

It was not that the questioning was not happening, but there was the team managing this project, coming back 

consistently, non-stop, in all those nine meetings I mentioned, all those separate meetings of the Elizabeth 

Line Readiness Board, all these visits that were happening out and about.  I think Assembly Member 

[Keith] Prince also highlighted an All-Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) meeting where the same thing was 

being said.  Actually, we were up against a very confident, very assured response to all the issues we were 

Page 12



  
 

 

raising from the Crossrail team.  I think there are some genuinely big lessons to be learnt for the governance of 

any future projects, not just TfL/London projects, but other national projects of a similar type. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Like national projects.  That is what a lot of our recommendations are 

around.  I think the [House of Commons] Public Accounts Committee will be picking up some of this as well.   

 

There is this whole thing throughout that everyone was so set on this deadline.  They had this optimism that 

was not based on proper professional management and whatever.  It was just their hearts, “Yes, we are going 

to get there on time”.  We have seen this in other projects, and a previous report from the [London Assembly] 

Budget and Performance Committee was very critical of the sub-surface upgrade programme, which you were 

in charge of at the time.  I know you called an end to the contract and it is doing well now. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  It is. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  There was again this overly optimistic, unrealistic optimism, if you like.  

Did you not pick that up?  Did you not question that, given we had had this a few years ago with the 

sub-surface lines?  What are you doing now to make sure that this optimism is kept in check?  There is a 

balance between motivating your troops on the ground to deliver the project and being honest where things 

are clearly going wrong. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I could not have put it better myself, Chair.  You are absolutely 

right.  That last statement is spot-on.  I think you quoted me as something I had said previously.  I am sure if it 

is grammatically correct, by the way, what I said. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It does not matter. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It was something like, “The DNA of these project people is often 

to surmount the insurmountable”.  I think you quoted me in saying that in your report.  That is something that 

we have to be very mindful of, and having those correct checks and balances is really important.  It was not 

that we did not question the Crossrail team.  It was not that we did not apply huge scrutiny.  It was not that 

they were not coming to see the Mayor and briefing the Mayor.  It was not that Mark Wild, who attended the 

Board, was not raising issues with the Mayor, with his Chief of Staff, with the Deputy Mayor.  It was not that I 

was not raising such issues with the Mayor as well.  It was simply that every time we did, every time 

consistently - and I know you have done a huge trawl as a Committee through lots of minutes and lots of 

records - the defining feature is you come back to the fact that they said, “Yes, there are challenges.  There 

are issues here.  We are going to do this there, and we will mitigate these issues and concerns and resolve the 

issues to deliver the 9 December date”.  That is something that is a real lesson for the future. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Obviously there were 11 recommendations in total.  Were there any 

others that you particularly wanted to respond to now?  Obviously we will expect more detail in writing, but is 

there anything particularly you wanted to pick up from our recommendations? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think, Chair, maybe just echoing some of the things I do, at first 

glance we will be very happy to work forward things like governance and transparency, and sponsoring 

organisations having more visibility and more access to detailed information.  I think it is really important.  The 

remuneration: I think again we are on record as raising that as an issue.  I was incredibly frustrated that the 

notification of remuneration of senior people at Crossrail was coming as a fait accompli.  Actually, after it had 

already been paid, it was coming to the TfL Remuneration Committee.  That was a frustration to me.   

Page 13



  
 

 

 

The corporate culture is something that, again, I have just highlighted as one of the issues that I think is 

markedly different with the new Chair and with Mark Wild now being in as the new Chief Executive, the Deputy 

Chair and the rest of the Board, which is pretty much 100% changed from where it was before.  The spirit of 

openness, scrutiny and proper dialogue is quite different.  There are a number of areas that obviously I will 

want to review in the fullness of time, as you would expect, to come back to formally, but I think there are a 

number of very helpful recommendations which I would concur with within your report. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you.  You are Commissioner of one of the sponsor 

bodies.  Is there anything with the help of hindsight that you regret, that you would have done differently? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It was way before I was Commissioner, when the construction of 

Crossrail was set up in 2008 as it was with the very clear stipulation that it was at arm’s length from both TfL 

and indeed from the DfT to prevent, in inverted commas, people like me ‘fiddling around’ with the detail of 

these fantastically talented individuals managing the project.  I regret that, frankly, when I was appointed 

Commissioner, I did not just review that and challenge whether that would have been appropriate to adjust and 

change.   

 

However, if you look at the context, at that time the project was seen as on-time, on-budget, was going really 

well, and was held up even by your Committee, if I may say, as being an exemplar of delivery.  It is a shame 

that the fantastic years of public service that the previous Chair gave to this project ended the way it did.  I 

should just put that on record as well, because I am sad about that.  I take no joy in the situation as it has 

emerged.  My focus now is absolutely to work with the new Chair and the new Chief Executive to ensure a 

successful implementation and delivery of this project.   

 

As you possibly know, Chair, the Mayor has written to the Chair of the Assembly offering a briefing from 

himself, from the Chair of Crossrail, the Chief Executive of Crossrail and myself as soon as we have a clear 

indicative plan of the new schedule emerging. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, and that looks likely to be next Thursday.  I think it is on the 

schedule.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  As I understand, yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am just a bit curious, actually.  First of all, you said you do daily updates to the Mayor.  Is 

that verbal or email? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is by email. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Email.  OK, Thank you.  Then obviously you did these weekly updates. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  The daily updates to the Mayor, I should just say, are on the 

service position every day.  I do not give daily updates on Crossrail progress. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, I appreciate that.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Just to be clear, Chair.  Sorry. 

 

Page 14



  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is understood. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am just curious.  I do not doubt that you are open and transparent.  Why did you feel the 

need to massively change these emails - I am sure you are aware of the ones that we are referring to - so as to 

really deny the Mayor the opportunity to have a proper overview of what was happening on Crossrail?  Why did 

you feel the need to do that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  The point I would say is it is about coherence and consistency, 

having messages that were coherent.  A lot of the stuff that we got to put into briefings for the Mayor frankly 

was not even legible, and I had to ensure that it was properly communicated in a clear and consistent way to 

the Mayor, consistent with the briefings that he was getting from Mark Wild, who was our nominee on the 

Board, and from the Chair and Chief Executive.  If there were meetings that had happened only a day or two 

before or indeed were about to happen a day or two after from the Chief Executive and the Chair, it would 

seem to me to be very important that there was a consistency of message being communicated. 

 

Also just to go back, if I may, to the point I made about the RAG status at the back of each of these weekly 

reports to the Mayor, where it was very clear.  This is very visible.  The RAG status is very clear about what 

areas were red and needed significant mitigation applied to them, what were amber issues that were being 

flagged up, and what were green and were on the trajectory of delivery.  For all of those, all of those reports 

consistently said that despite the RAG status, the 9 December date was deliverable.  It was just important to 

me to ensure that the Mayor gets properly and consistently briefed. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Did you have access to the Jacobs report? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, we had seen the Jacobs report.  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  In those it is quite clear that there is very much doubt about it opening on 9 December.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  The nature of the questioning that the Mayor applied directly, 

that I applied, that Mark Wild applied, the Deputy Mayor and the Mayor’s Chief of Staff applied in meetings 

with the Crossrail senior team was exactly reflective of that report and of other emerging concerns in the traffic 

light RAG status.  Those questions were being asked, and they were being scrutinised very clearly.   

 

As I said to you, I used the example of the Farringdon Station visit with the Chair of Crossrail.  As we were out 

there, I was slightly incredulous.  I will be honest.  I said, “Is this station really going to be ready?”  I think the 

expression used by the Chair was something like, “It is a bit like a house.  It looks like it has a long way to go, 

but it is the just the finishes to take place”.  As it turned out, it was much more than finishes because, as we 

now know, unfortunately, not a single station was close to being able to be commissioned before 9 December.  

It was not immediately obvious to a non-engineer visiting a station, like me, that that was going to materialise. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You visited Farringdon and, as you said yourself, the alarm bells were ringing.  When was 

that visit to Farringdon?  Just roughly.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No, sorry.  I did have it there, did I not?  I just want to get the 

date right.  It was on 5 July.  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  5 July.  All right.  There, you had questions yourself about it. 

 

Page 15



  
 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Did you not think then to maybe visit a few other stations to -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I had been to Bond Street earlier on in the year in May.  I had had 

a look at it.  Bond Street was one that had always been held as an outlier and one that was of concern.  Again, 

just to put this in context, this is not a TfL project.  The Chair mentioned the sub-surface signalling project.  

On that project I visited on a regular number of occasions.  As soon as the first commissioning section 

happened a couple of weeks ago, I was out just after that weekend with the train drivers, with the control 

room staff, visiting that project.  I have been at Bank Station just over the road, the project there, on many 

occasions in the last few weeks; I am going again very shortly.   

 

The Crossrail project was an entirely different structure.  It had its own independent Board.  It had its own 

Chief Executive.  It had its own management team.  As a sponsor, there is a very type of role in the way that 

this was set up as an organisation than there is about projects that we are directly managing.  It is quite 

different. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Where do you think the buck stops, though? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think the buck stops with the independent Chair and the 

independent Board of Crossrail.  The thing I regret most, if I may, Chair, through you, is that the balance being 

struck between supreme and understandable and appropriate advocacy of a project and everything it is 

delivering and the proper scrutiny of a non-executive Board of the executive team was not struck correctly in 

latter stages of last year in the project.  That is something that is a lesson. 

 

If I may just contrast that with the level of rigour and challenge and scrutiny that I get from the current TfL 

Board, it is very different in that regard.  I go to the Programmes & Investment Committee.  I go to the Finance 

Committee.  Not all Commissioners have always done that, but I make it my point to go to all those committees 

as well, of course, as the TfL Board.  I very much welcome the level of scrutiny and oversight questioning.  

They are public meetings, so many of you I am sure have observed them or certainly read the notes of them.  

The scrutiny you will notice is really quite significant, and appropriately significant.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  When would you say that the penny dropped for you? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  The end of August, when it was revealed that it was not going to 

open in December. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You did not have any inkling before that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We knew there were risks.  As I have said before, as I have to this 

Committee before and the Assembly before -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am sorry to cut across you, Mike, because I love listening to your wonderful, lyrical voice. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I have been called worse! 

 

Page 16



  
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I just do not quite understand.  Clearly, you are an intelligent man, and you were getting 

these reports.  We have seen in the Jacobs report even as early as June they were saying, “Chances are, it ain’t 

going to happen”.  Why did you not feel the need to let the Mayor know this? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We did let the Mayor know.  We had consistent problems with -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  The Mayor says that the first thing he knew about it was on 28 August. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No, he did not say that.  I think what the Mayor has said was that 

risks had been emerging throughout and they had been highlighted to him in an open way about the types of 

issues that were emerging at the time, and there was an issue that was very explicit around the balance 

between running the train in test-operational mode alongside trying to finish off the construction in the tunnel 

and in the stations area.  That was raised.  Right from earlier on last year, when the issue of [the transformer 

explosion at] Pudding Mill Lane, as I have alluded to, was raised, these issues were being raised in public.  As I 

say, fundamentally, every time these issues were raised, every time there was questioning of the Crossrail team, 

consistently throughout on every occasion, on all those meetings that I listed and other informal discussions 

with the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor, the Mayor’s Chief and Staff and others, on every such occasion, the 

Crossrail team said, “Yes, there are concerns, absolutely.  We are managing it.  We are managing the risk.  We 

are aiming for delivery on 9 December”.   

 

As I said to the Chair - again with the risk of repeating myself - they did put their money where their mouth is, 

because they went to the Transport Minister and said, “£300 million is what will guarantee the December date 

being delivered”.  I think it was you that mentioned previously the APPG where the Chair was adamant that 

this was going to be delivered.  I have to genuinely believe that he thought that was still the case. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Are you saying, then, that it was not until 28 August that the Chair said to you, “Mike, we 

have a problem”? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  At the meeting after the end of August Crossrail Board, that is 

when the programme to deliver to 9 December obviously became undeliverable. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, but that was not the question I asked, though, was it?  The question I am asking you 

is, are you telling me that the Chair did not speak to you off the record before 28 August? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No.  On the contrary, the Chair at the meeting at the end of July 

with the Mayor made it very clear that despite the risks that were being highlighted by the Chief Executive and 

others, he was sending the executive team back to do some more work to ensure that we had clarity, and he 

said very explicitly, “The 9 December date holds”. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Just to put it on record, obviously the former Chair completely disputes 

that and says he did say --  

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am going to come to that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Sorry. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  No, that is fine.  I was going to say that I have had a meeting with the former Chair and he 

does dispute that that neither you nor the Mayor were aware of the date that was going to stumble before 

Page 17



  
 

 

28 August.  What I am asking you again is, are you saying that you had no private conversations with 

Sir Terry Morgan and the Mayor - you cannot speak on behalf of the Mayor so I will not ask that question - 

said to you, “Look, we have a problem”? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Terry Morgan [former Chair of Crossrail Ltd] said to this 

Committee on 12 September, there were no dates, there were no costs identified, and this is reference to the 

July meetings:  

 

“We formally briefed both sponsors that the date was at risk, and we were doing this work intending to 

report back at the end of August.  There was no other date on the table.  In fact, it was actually 

declared nobody on the Board had seen those numbers nor dates when they instructed the executive to 

do more work.  We have always had to separate facts from concerns.”   

 

This is the exact quote from the Chair:  

 

“The fact is we did not have a formal position to take until 29 August.  We did brief informally about 

concerns that we had at the Board meeting and indeed with briefings with the Assembly, but you did 

not have any information of the sort that we provided on 30 August any day earlier than that date.”   

 

That is what the Chair said to you explicitly at this Committee on 12 September. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Mike, that is not the question I am asking you though, is it? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am just clarifying what the Chair said though, because you 

mentioned the Chair. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is not the question I have asked you.  I will ask you again the same question.  Are you 

telling us that you did not have private meetings with Sir Terry before 28 August where he made it clear to you 

that the date of 9 December was not going to work? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I did not have any meeting, no.  No. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You had no conversation, no telephone conversation, no email conversation? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can I just pick up from there?  You were saying about the RAG ratings 

and the red-amber-green.  Would that have been in the table summary of the operating handover schedule 

milestones? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There was a detailed one that included the so-called Master 

Operational Handover Schedule (MOHS), but in the back of every one of the weekly updates to the Mayor’s 

meeting there was a more detailed RAG status about every issue to do with the project delivery, so it was wider 

than that, Chair. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I am just trying to clarify because that only went until the 12 July one, 

so I just wanted to clarify that. 

 

Page 18



  
 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Sure.  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You talk about the scrutiny you get from the TfL Board.  I have sat in a 

number of those meetings.  If you think that is tough scrutiny, I presume they are tougher in private than they 

are in public.  There are a few sharp questions but a lot of it is what I would consider to be rather soft.  That is 

just a difference of opinion. 

 

From a Freedom of Information request, it shows that communications were being worked up from the 

beginning of August and press statements were being agreed with both sponsors earlier in August about it not 

opening on time.  Did you sign off or were you aware of those statements being prepared? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I did not sign off any statement.  I was not involved in any detail 

around that whatever.  I would say it was probably appropriate that at least some pre-work was being done in 

the event of it being required, but I was not party to those. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I am not questioning that because that is what good communication 

professionals do, but if statements were being agreed and it is clear the sponsors were disagreeing or trying to 

agree when they would announce it, you were not aware of that at all, even though it clearly states “sponsors” 

in the -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I was aware there was work going on, but I was not in the detail of 

that.  Let us put it this -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You were aware work was going on, so you had a suspicion it was not 

likely to open in December, but you did not definitively know until the end of August? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I was aware of the risks, as were highlighted at the end of July, 

and I have been very explicit about that, as has the Mayor.  We all were aware of those risks.  I have just 

quoted from what the then-Chair said to this Committee very explicitly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  In September. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, and then, when he was not working for Crossrail, he was very open 

and had a different story in December. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I can only begin to speculate on his motivation after he left his 

post. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I do not think we should try to damage someone’s character in public, 

but I -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Chair, I have been very upfront about the contribution he made to 

the project and I would like that on record, because he did make a significant contribution to the project.  I 

think it was sad that his views appeared to be very different after he left his post than they were when he was 

in his post. 

 

Page 19



  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Personally, I think it is sad that he has become the fall guy for this, 

because when you look at the evidence we had from the former Chief Executives, who were supposed to be 

world experts in this, leading on the project, and what they were being paid, I think they need to take more 

responsibility.  Sadly, that has not quite happened. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think that is a fair point. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Does anyone else have any questions on Crossrail?  No.  I think that 

draws that section to a close.  Thank you for your answers on that, and we look forward to getting a really 

detailed reply on our recommendations.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  You will.  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us move on to looking at TfL’s performance, and 

Assembly Member Russell is going to start this off. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you, and good morning.  I want to look at TfL’s performance, and to start off by 

looking at one of the really important targets in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, which is the 80% walking, 

cycling and public transport by 2041 target.  What we have in the latest scorecard is not looking great in terms 

of passenger journeys going down, and obviously we do not yet have any information on walking because that 

is coming in the next quarter.  We are also seeing that the traffic index is showing an increase in traffic rather 

than a decrease in traffic.  Why do you think that TfL is not meeting its mode-share targets, and what do you 

think needs to be done to address this? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Thank you for the question.  I think the information you probably 

have access to is period 11, and I have some early indications of year-end.  This obviously is not in the public 

domain yet, and this is not because we are being secretive.  It is just because this needs to be processed 

properly.  Total public transport journeys have increased over the year, but it is true to say that the rate of 

increase was slower than in recent years and follows reductions in previous years, primarily reflecting economic 

difficulties and the uncertainties which we are all well aware of.   

 

Cycling journeys did increase over the year, with particularly strong growth where we have made investment to 

improve the cycling experience.  The path that we are pursuing of more cycling facilities, particularly dedicated 

cycling routes, is paying off.   

 

Our measure of walking trips was also up, although this is currently a partial measure.  We do not have the 

granular detail that we will get to in terms of a better measure for walking, but that is in place for our 2019/20 

scorecard.  You will see some amendments in that to try to get into that data a bit more scientifically.  Clearly, 

last year, because it was an emerging measure, the way we were constructing it was not perfect. 

 

Road traffic you are right to say did increase slightly across the year, and that is not consistent with the aims of 

the Transport Strategy.  It primarily, interestingly, reflected an increase in vans rather than cars, and highlights 

another area of emerging challenge for us.  Of course, the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) introduction and 

the fact that we now have 70% compliance of vehicles for the ULEZ, the early figures indicate - not categoric 

yet because we are still processing it - is part of that journey.  You are right to raise it.  This is an area of huge 

concern for us, and we have to up our focus.  That is why we have made some adjustments in the scorecards 

for the coming year to get into the detail in a bit more of a granular way.   

 

Page 20



  
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  The adjustments to the scorecards: I think you are proposing to use average 

kilometres cycled per day and the number of public transport trips, which will measure how long the trips are 

and whether there are more trips on public transport.  These longer trips, do they really give a measure of the 

actual mode-share or are you not just getting -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  You are measuring one journey, a longer journey? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  Some of these are proxies, and again I am very happy to 

have a more detailed dialogue offline on the specifics of why we have come up with the measures we have 

come up with, or indeed, Chair, I could write to you with some of the details as to why we have done that.  It is 

quite complex.  It is an area with a balance between making something as scientific as we can do without 

overcomplicating it in terms of it being readily accessible for people and meaningful.  We are genuinely mindful 

that people who use public transport are much more likely to walk for a significant part of their journey as part 

of their overall travel experience and indeed use bikes.  The continued record numbers we have on the 

Santander bike hire scheme, for example, is evidence partly of that.  

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK.  Moving on, just looking at the TfL customer satisfaction targets which are set at 

49%, and you are meeting all of those in the period 11 scorecard, the most recent one.  I am just wondering, 

do you think those are ambitious enough targets if you are comfortably meeting them all? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is a good question.  I would not say we are comfortably meeting 

them.  We are meeting them.  I think it is fair to say that the percentage of Londoners who agree we care 

about our customers is the actual point, and it is quite a difficult measure to calibrate both nationally and 

internationally in terms of comparators.  The areas where we have made some real progress are value for 

money, so initiatives such as fares, the Hopper fare, and perceptions of staff being friendly, particularly now 

bus staff - having done the training with bus staff, I think it has gone up really quite significantly - as well as 

the “Here to help” tabards that we have introduced on London Underground to help with staff visibility there.   

 

My sense is it is about right, but we have to continue to push.  This of course is in parallel with the detailed 

divisional scorecards that I have to manage the place with London Underground, with London Buses.  We 

continue to be at record levels with customer satisfaction levels around the 85% to 86% mark there, which are 

world-beating in terms of their numbers.  This is a very specific type of analysis we do, and we will continue to 

keep it under review. 

 

I can assure you, by the way, that my approach to scorecard measures is to make them as tough as possible.  If 

we are achieving more than 65% to 70% results overall in the year on our scorecard, then it is too easy.  That is 

good corporate practice, by the way.  That is what you would expect.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK.  Do you think that, for instance, when Crossrail actually opens or when the big 

signalling projects that are ongoing at the moment with the District, Circle, Metropolitan, Hammersmith and 

City lines get delivered, don’t you think that those might be moments where you might get some step-changes 

in terms of customer satisfaction? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, I hope so.  I think people will be bowled away by the 

Elizabeth line opening.  I think we all agree it is going to be a game-changer in terms of London’s transport 

network.  Actually, in a different way - I know it is much less exciting on the face of it - the new capacity on 

Page 21



  
 

 

the Circle line, the prospect of waiting for a Circle line train for three or four minutes instead of ten, is 

something people will notice when that happens.  I agree.  I think at that point there will be a real need to look 

at this afresh and assure that we are stretching ourselves in that moment, much the way that we did in the 

lead-up to the Olympics, where, as you know, we did a huge upturn in reliability, performance delivery and 

indeed customer satisfaction scores.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, so we can expect to see those targets shift? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We will certainly be expecting to adjust them on the basis of new 

assets being brought into service, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, thank you.  Going back to, again, the scorecard, we have traffic volumes rising in 

outer London.  What more do you think TfL needs to be doing to address car use in outer London? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  The output, for example, of the central London bus consultation, 

where we made some changes to connections from the original proposals: we made some changes to the 

number 19 route where we proposed some changes.  We decided on the basis of the over 7,000 people that 

responded to the consultation overall to amend those changes.  That is an example where we are continuing to 

work with promoting bus usage in outer London.  The new proposed route that is in consultation now finished 

I think about 17 or 18 May.  The route to Kidbrooke in south east London is another example of where we are 

trying to encourage people to get on to buses for perhaps the first time in outer London.   

 

Of course, the continual work that we will be doing now on the next stage of the ULEZ will again encourage 

people to change their journeys.  I do recognise - and we have been very open about this, and in my regular 

meetings with borough leaders and chief executives across the capital - and I am very mindful of the specific 

challenges, geographical area by geographical area, in outer London to ensure there is decent connectivity 

between the transport hubs and between the destinations, the town centres, the places people want to really 

go to in outer London.  We are continuing to focus on that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What about walking and cycling in outer London?  Some of those streets are very 

hostile, traffic-dominated places, particularly the TfL roads, which tend to be the very big ones.  There are 

increasingly people walking along them because of all the new housing developments that are happening 

everywhere in London.  Do you have thoughts about what you can do more to get more people walking and 

cycling in outer London? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Absolutely.  I am not going to call out individual boroughs, 

because some boroughs are doing fantastic work about this.  By the way, it is across the political spectrum; it is 

not based on any particular political leadership of any boroughs.  Some are extraordinarily good.  Dr 

Will Norman, the Walking and Cycling Commissioner, who I work with incredibly closely on this matter, has 

been talking to boroughs with Gareth Powell [Managing Director, Surface Transport, TfL] and his team about 

what more we can do.  Some of this is around speed limits.  Some of it is around decent environments.  In 

many ways, it is treating some of these outer London town centres a bit like you treat the centre of the city 

overall, so recognising that London is not just one homogenous mass.  It is made up of individual towns, 

villages and centres that people do want to get around easily, safely, and without having to always confront 

massive traffic going at high speeds. 

 

Again, the work that we are doing within central London - I know it is central London - on the 20mph limits, 

that is a significant issue that not only improves safety significantly in terms of the impact of incidents and 

Page 22



  
 

 

seriousness of fatalities on people who are unfortunately involved in an incident, but also it just improves the 

environment overall for people who are walking and cycling around parts of the city.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you expect 20mph to be rolled out more widely across the city? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I would like to see it.  Clearly, there are some roads where it would 

not be appropriate to do because of the nature of the way they are and indeed the nature of the way 

pedestrian flows operate, but as a principle, for anyone who has witnessed it they are operating or where 

20mph limits do operate, it does make a significant difference.  It feels different, and people do behave 

differently. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  Thank you.  Again, we started this question looking at traffic volumes.  As I 

understand it, from the March [2019] Board meeting it is proposed that the scorecard for 2019/20 in terms of 

looking at mode-share is going to drop the traffic index.  I just wonder why you are dropping the traffic index 

because, if you are looking at mode-share, understanding whether or not you have more or less vehicular 

motorised traffic on the roads is quite an important measure to be keeping an eye on.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is, and we still do, but in a slightly different way in the way we 

are constructing it.  Again, perhaps as part of me writing you a note afterwards, Chair, through you, I will give 

you a bit more granular detail in that.  Of course, as ever, Caroline, we are happy to talk to you offline as to our 

thinking behind that.  It certainly is not trying to ignore that very important measure. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Where will that be measured? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  That again is around areas such as the ULEZ, the Congestion 

Charge entries, other things where we will have a very clear set of accurate data around what people are doing 

in terms of the journeys they are making. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Does this mean that you are stopping collecting the data that you have been 

collecting? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No.  We will continue to collect it.  It is just the matter of what is 

in the top-level scorecards.  Again, it is worth saying, Chair, through you that we do have divisional scorecards 

still.  I would have to check the detail within Surface Transport scorecard as to whether it is still picking up that 

measure, but we will get back to you on. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Could you please get back to us? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Of course. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I do think that measuring the volumes of traffic is important, particularly in terms of 

going back to the 80% target for 2041. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  I understand the point.  Yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Looking at Vision Zero and the numbers of people being killed and seriously injured on 

the roads, the Quarter 3 2018 data is showing a worrying increase in the numbers of people killed and seriously 

Page 23



  
 

 

injured on London’s roads.  Over this coming year, what are TfL’s key priorities in order to push the Vision Zero 

agenda forward? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  First of all, can I just say that every single person who is killed or 

seriously injured on London’s roads is of huge regret to me?  These are individual human beings like you or me 

with loved ones, with families and families, and I was really struck - I will answer the question - with a session I 

attended of victims of either serious injuries themselves or -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That was RoadPeace? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, absolutely.  It was an extraordinarily powerful session.  It was 

very moving.  The Mayor and the Deputy Mayor and others were there as well.  An extraordinarily moving 

session.   

 

The number of fatalities on London’s roads in 2018 were 110 compared to 131 the previous year, so that is 

quite a significant reduction in fatalities, with the caveat that one is one too many.  However, it is true that 

serious injuries have increased.  There are some issues we are looking at with reporting, because people now 

have the ability to self-report serious injuries, which they did not have before.  I am not saying that skews the 

figures, but clearly I am trying to break down just how many of those are self-reported, and it is not to 

underplay any of them.  You asked about what we were doing --  

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think that that self-reporting is because the police are not reporting these?  

Serious injuries have serious impacts on people’s lives going forward.  Do you think it is that the police are not 

picking them up and reporting them, so people are self-reporting them? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Maybe.  It is just trying to get a much more coherent picture 

about the data out there.  Regardless of what it does to the data and how it appears, it is really important that 

we have the fullest possible picture of deaths and serious injuries - serious injuries in this case, obviously - on 

London’s roads, so I do not want anyone to ever think that I do not want the fullest possible picture, even if 

that means in the short term some of the numbers appear to be higher.  I do not think it is a matter about the 

police.  That is not my issue, and I have regular discussions with Cressida Dick [Commissioner of Police of the 

Metropolis] and others in her team on enforcement and other issues.  I do not think it is that.  I think it is just a 

matter of trying to get to the bottom of all the data. 

 

You asked about the things that we are doing, and I have mentioned 20mph.  That is a very important issue, 

particularly on lowering speed limits on our road network.  There is also the Direct Vision Standard (DVS), of 

course, for heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) to improve vehicle safety.  That is going to remove the most 

dangerous HGVs from the capital’s roads by 2020.  It is interesting, and I suspect you may come on to 

questions about the freight and the Freight Team later -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, we will do. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  -- but I was just going to say that is a great example of where we 

started off in a very confrontational way with these bodies representing the freight industry, and now they are 

supreme advocates.  It is to the credit of my team, but also I really acknowledge the fantastic work that the 

freight industry has done in moving forward on this issue.  We are leading the -- 

 

Page 24



  
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  They do not want their workers to have the trauma of having been involved in a crash 

where someone is killed. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  They do not.  Absolutely.  It is hugely traumatic.  Exactly.  That is 

a really important area of development.  The world-leading Bus Safety Standard for London, which includes 

the latest safety technologies products to help avoid the impact of collisions involving buses, is really 

important.  Indeed, we have just started a new bus safety training.  Actually, Chair, I know we invited some 

members of the Assembly to attend the new bus safety training but did not give you hardly any notice at all.  I 

think it was yourself and the Deputy Chair.  May I just say the invitation is open-ended, whenever you would 

like to come and see and get a briefing on that bus safety training?   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That would fit in with our next piece of work.  Yes.  Thank you.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I very much welcome that.  It is a real ground-breaking piece of 

work that I would value your input on and your look at as well. 

 

Funding dedicated traffic police in London, regular operations targeting risky behaviour and vehicle safety, 

extensive road safety and education programmes.  This is an area that is number one on our scorecard.  It is 

absolutely up there as something we talk about on a regular basis.  Every Monday afternoon I meet with my 

executive team, and every Monday afternoon, every meeting I ever have with anyone inside the organisation, 

in fact also with every borough and everything else, is always about safety.  We always start with safety.  This is 

an issue that we discuss at very granular detail on a regular basis to see what more we could be doing.  Clearly, 

the numbers need to improve.  Although they are individual people, it is represented in the clear numbers here. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The work that you have been doing on buses is beginning to show in that you did 

better than the target on that. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Exactly.  The targets involving buses, yes, are improved.  Thank 

you for highlighting that.  Yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Good, but keep going, because there are still too many people being killed and 

seriously injured. 

 

In terms of the trajectory of future reductions in the numbers of people being killed or seriously injured, if you 

miss your 2018/19 targets at the end of the year, is there anything that you can do more to try to turn this 

around? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We have to continue to focus on the things we are doing, but we 

do have to think of other new ideas.  By the way, for the avoidance of doubt, my team does not have the 

monopoly on good ideas, so we do talk to a number of interested groups, RoadPeace and others, who have a 

significant input into these issues so that we can continually learn as to what more we can do.  Tackling the 

most dangerous junctions in London is really important as well, Highbury Corner as recently as this weekend 

where we changed the configuration of the road layout there to help improve issues there.  Old Street 

Roundabout is another notorious area where there is work going on.  Continuing the focus of the plans we 

have, but, where possible, ramping up, doing things faster.  I am incredibly impatient on this subject.  If you 

were a fly on the wall of some of my meetings with my team, you would discover the vehemence of my 

impatience.  We do not have a monopoly on good ideas, and, as ever, I would welcome views from individual 

Committee members or anyone else on this subject matter because we do not have all the answers. 

Page 25



  
 

 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am sure lots of Committee members will come up with things for you. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Great. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  TfL has undergone a lot of organisation change.  Going forward, how is TfL going to 

improve workforce engagement and particularly representativeness?  In terms of how representative the staff 

of TfL are in terms of all Londoners you are on amber, and in terms of the director-level staff you are actually 

on red.  What work are you doing to improve the representativeness of TfL workers? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is true that those are certainly areas we have to improve, and we 

have to improve it for two fundamental reasons.  One is it is morally wrong where we are, and secondly, having 

a properly diverse and representative workforce hugely enhances our ability to make decent, wide-ranging 

decisions around any table that we sit.  It is something that I will continue to push very highly.  We have a new 

Diversity and Inclusion Director that sits on my executive team.  He is Staynton Brown.  He is doing 

phenomenal work ensuring that we have diversity and inclusion dashboards for every one of our senior 

managers across the organisation now, so they have very granular detail within their own areas.   

 

In 2018 with regard to directors or senior managers, 50% of our senior appointments have been women.  That 

is the first time in our history we have achieved that.  It obviously takes some time for that to translate into the 

full and proper representation of that group of employees overall.  We have mentoring and internal work 

experience programmes supporting women and black and minority ethnic (BAME) colleagues in middle 

management roles in London Underground operations in particular, where we have less representation.  That 

has been a historic problem for a long time.  It is also a particular challenge because the turnover levels are 

quite low there, so you tend to have people who are often white men who have been in position a very long 

time, doing a very specific role in parts of the Underground.  As I say, the dashboard for each individual 

business area includes the focus on the experiences of underrepresented groups of our employees. 

 

I would also say just a few weeks ago we had an extraordinarily positive session where the leaders of our staff 

network groups, who are real people doing real jobs in the organisation as opposed to people like me, coming 

to my executive team, giving us, if you like, some free internal consultancy as to the sorts of basic things we 

needed to sort and fix up.  It was extraordinarily powerful, and we are developing an action plan as a result of 

that to ensure that we do even more in this area.  It is really important that we do this.  It is really important we 

get this right. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Do you think that will help with the engagement of staff?  In terms of your 

engagement score, that is also looking red. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  The engagement score is a real concern to me.  It has stayed 

the same as last year, which you might say to some extent is quite a good result, given the scale of 

transformation and change that we have been undergoing as an organisation.  Nonetheless, I am not happy 

with that score at all.  8,000 people responded to the survey.  That is positive.  That is a very high level of 

response by industry standards, so that is good.  However, although the vast majority of people feel engaged 

with our work and what we are trying to do as an organisation, we just need to do a lot more, and this is 

around ensuring local managers, local people, do some really good things with their people.   

 

Where we have areas of good practice, it is phenomenal.  We have had a manager running the Jubilee line, 

where we had one of our most difficult train driver depots.  It is not difficult in terms of the people, but 

Page 26



  
 

 

difficult in terms of getting people to attend work and feel engaged and feel involved.  She has turned that 

around.  The Director of Bus Operations, within buses, her scores have rocketed under her leadership.  It is very 

interesting that those two managers are women, but they are real exemplars of how to do things right.  We are 

now embarking on a specific, dedicated programme with a focus on London Underground, because that is 

where most of the operational staff sit in the organisation, but Gareth Powell within Surface [Transport] is 

replicating the learnings from that for his operational areas as well because that is where we really need to 

focus.  There is a lot of work going on here. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is reassuring to hear about that.  You mentioned Highbury Corner earlier, and I 

would like to give you some positive feedback on that.  During the works there, which have been going on for 

several years, there has been real attention to detail in terms of public safety, people walking and cycling, and I 

have visited with TfL engineers and seen really good things that make a real difference to the public everyday 

experience of encountering TfL at work.  Making sure that the traffic management is not getting in the way of 

pedestrians, and that pedestrians can reach to press the button to get a green man to cross the road, that kind 

of thing.  If that is filtering down through the organisation, that is very, very positive and useful. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Thank you for that, and I think it is.  I was out walking the streets 

with some of the colleagues in Surface Transport just a few weeks ago, and we were looking at some real 

examples, not just about the work that we are possibly doing on our own road network but also about where 

you have major construction of buildings adjacent to, for example, cycleways or footways and how you ensure 

there is proper mobility access for everybody on those footways.  We did not always have that as the standard.  

We now have this clear standard of guidance.  We are calling it out all the time so people from across the 

organisation now have a way of calling out where they see bad practice or good practice.  I know Assembly 

Members do that yourselves as well, and I am always grateful for that.  Anytime I see stuff when I am out and 

about walking around the city, I always call it out, both good and bad practice.  It is positive to hear what you 

say but there is always more work to do. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  The one thing I would like to just ask you to see if you can do, talking about 

good practice, is the amount of time that pedestrians have to wait to cross the road when they are at a 

temporary works at traffic signals.  If you can feed back to get everyone making sure that pedestrians are not 

waiting forever, because when they do have to wait for an unreasonable amount of time they end up crossing 

in gaps in the traffic.  It would be good to see better practice on that one. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  They do, and in fact not just on temporary facilities but on 

permanent facilities.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Indeed. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There is a junction just up the road from my offices at Southwark 

where you cross just towards the side for Blackfriars Bridge, which used to be a really difficult crossing for 

pedestrians.  We have adjusted the timings.  I complained about it hugely, actually.  The team took me out to 

show me.  It was not just me complaining that did this, but we went out and saw it.  The flow is much more 

logical.  It means you are not stuck in the middle of that safe but nonetheless frustrating place to be stuck in, 

which, exactly, runs the risk of you resorting to taking a chance to cross the road.  It is those sorts of examples 

of saving time for pedestrians that are enshrined in our thinking. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Page 27



  
 

 

Tom Copley AM:  This was a follow-on from the question about workforce.  Obviously TfL has been through 

a big transformation programme.  There have been big cuts to staff.  There has been a further announcement I 

think of another 30% of cuts to staff.  I am wondering, how are you going to make sure that that does not 

start to have a negative impact on TfL’s performance both in terms of overcutting and getting rid of people 

that we need for the organisation to function effectively, but also the impact on staff morale as well, having 

already been through one major reorganisation, to have to go through another? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is an extraordinarily good question and you are absolutely right.  

That is a real risk and it is a balance that we have to strike.  I would say that the further reductions are primarily 

in those areas that have not previously gone through transformations.  It sounds a bit like code when we talk 

about middle office and back office within the divisional areas.  What we have done previously is, if you like, 

restructured where there has been clear duplication across the various parts of the organisation.  You will recall 

I said to you before in this Committee about engineering being an example, where we used to have multiple 

engineering teams, all disparately spread across the organisation.  We have brought that together into one 

functional engineering team.  It happens to sit within London Underground, but it serves London Rail, it serves 

Surface Transport, it serves the major projects area, so it serves every single part of the organisation.   

 

What we are doing now is looking at the areas of back office within the division where, for example, you have 

subject sponsor teams, that there were two sponsor groups, one with quite a different way of doing things 

within Surface Transport for some of the schemes such as Highbury Corner as a good example, or some of the 

other junction schemes we are doing, and quite a different set of people with different management and 

leadership sitting within London Underground or indeed relating over to the major projects division.  We are 

now bringing all of those together.  We are tackling different groups here, but nonetheless it does run the risk 

of creating a de-settling experience, if you like, for people overall.   

 

My clear aim with the team is to ensure not only do we keep a regular discussion going on with people at every 

level of management and every level of engagement that we can during this process, but also we have through 

our Human Resources (HR) team, which has also been going through its transformation - now pretty much 

through it - a hotline for people to raise issues and raise concerns.  It is a different conduit, rather than just 

through the conventional management chain, to raise those issues.   

 

In terms of front line delivery performance, last year, for example, on London Underground we ran more 

kilometrage of passenger service than we have ever run in our history.  Notwithstanding the period 11 results, 

we will have achieved our excess waiting time for the Underground by the end of the year.  That is hot off the 

press because we only just got the validated data literally a couple of days ago.  Performance is steady, but I 

have to say one of the advantages of labouring the point about my daily message to the Mayor is it pretty 

much focuses my time seven days a week as to how the Network, Buses, Railway and Underground are 

performing, and that is a pretty good proxy for how people feel about the place and how they are responding 

to the challenges we face. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just to the point about back office, though, I sometimes worry this is used as a bit of a 

buzzword.  When the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) was going through cuts, they would say, “It is back 

office cuts”, but then you ended up with uniformed police officers taking over some of the functions.  In an 

organisation like TfL, transport planners, for example, might be regarded as back office, but it is absolutely 

fundamental to TfL’s performance that we have good transport planning, and it is one of the reasons why I 

think TfL does a lot better job running suburban rail services in the DfT’s refranchising.  My concern is that TfL 

could lose some of what makes it a really top-quality organisation in these areas of transport planning, for 

example, if that is regarded as back office. 

Page 28



  
 

 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think it is a very good point, and it is too easy to define people 

in that almost jargonistic type of way, as you described.  I agree with you.  If you look at something like 

transport planning, what we have done is bring together two teams - we did have a bus transport planning 

team - that never would have in history talked to the Underground or rail planning team.  That is clearly 

bonkers when you think about it.  Now they are one team under Geoff Hobbs [Director of Public Service 

Transport Planning, TfL], who many of you will know, who is a world-class professional acknowledged by the 

Government and DfT, as well as peer organisations around the place, as being really good at this stuff.  Now 

that he is able to have a proper look across the piece, this means we have more coherence.   

 

You are right; we have a continual look about future talent pools, future people emerging in the organisation, 

and particularly going back to the point about diversity and workforce representation about how we can ensure 

particularly people from minority represented groups are properly represented at the most senior levels and 

leadership opportunities.  Where we do lose some people because they have decided they do not like the new 

structure or they want to move on or whatever, how can we particularly encourage those underrepresented 

groups to move forward into senior level?   

 

The Greater London Authority (GLA) overall is doing some interesting work on sponsorship of young women.  I 

sponsor a young manager from the MPS, which is one of the most rewarding things I do ever, where you have 

this young woman with extraordinary talent who just needs someone to be sponsoring her and advocating for 

her in her next stage in her career.  I am delighted to say that I met with the ones within TfL who are subject to 

this programme a few weeks ago.  I can safely say they were pretty blunt with me about some of the things we 

need to do differently, and I really welcome that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  OK.  Fantastic.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Great.  Thank you very much for that.  You mentioned there again your 

daily reports.  Do you think we could see a week or so of them so we can see what sort of thing goes to the 

Mayor? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I can get you some samples of what they look like.  Clearly, I do 

not want to commit to sending it to everybody, but I will get you a sample of what they look like. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  If you could, and then we may come back for some specific dates.  That 

would be really great. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am very happy to do that, Chair, of course. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you.  Let’s now look just a little bit at finances.  

Assembly Member Eshalomi. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.  Thanks, Mike.  We know that the finances have been 

dominated by Crossrail being delayed and over budget, but if we look at the finance year-on, you have made 

some good progress and there has been a reduction in the deficit and the operations on a day-to-day basis.  

The budget variance is showing £5 million deficit.   

 

In responding to Assembly Member [Caroline] Russell, you talked about some of those dangerous junctions.  

One of the things that I wanted to highlight was obviously the Tulse Hill Gyratory in my constituency.  There 

Page 29



  
 

 

have been deaths on that gyratory.  If there is some additional cash, which is good news for TfL, why aren’t 

you then going to be spending it on some of these key things as outlined in the business plan like road 

maintenance, which is another key one that comes up?  I get a number of tweets from cyclists showing me 

some of the dangerous potholes that they are having to manoeuvre around on TfL roads.  If we have some 

spare cash - obviously you are not going to go on a spending spree - why aren’t we spending some of that on 

some key projects? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  You are right, and thanks for saying it.  Just to be clear, I think 

you said £5 million.  The annual operating deficit was £500 million. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  £500 million.  My apologies. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Just to be clear.  That is half of what we expected.  We expected 

about £968 million.  I am very pleased with the progress that we have made.  We have cut our annual deficit 

indeed over the last three years by two thirds.  In 2015/16, before the Government grant, we made a loss of 

£1.5 billion, so that is extraordinarily positive progress.  Despite that, huge investment continues to be made to 

reduce road danger, tackle poor air quality and improve accessibility, and we continue also to respond to the 

wider mayoral agenda in areas such as affordable housing, which I am very pleased that we also are focusing 

on.   

 

The issue about reinvesting it elsewhere: we still have a way to go before we reach a surplus, and we do need 

to reach a surplus in our overall operations.  The only part of our organisation that meets a surplus in pure 

terms at the moment is London Underground, and also the Docklands Light Railway, but it is only the 

Underground because, as you know, there is a huge and higher than ever operating subsidy for London Buses, 

some £750 million per annum.  We only have a level of cash available for three months of paying those that we 

owe money to or our wage bill.  Any less than that is really not good fiscal practice.  Next time you talk to 

Simon Kilonback [Chief Financial Officer, TfL] he will give you a bit more detail on that, but it really would not 

be wise for us as custodians of the medium and long-term health of the organisation to be spending money 

that we do not have available.   

 

Our first priority will be safety, so Tulse Hill Junction will be part of our plan for safer junction schemes.  We 

will seek to expedite whatever we can in tackling those safer junctions.  What I have made very clear to the 

team is that even if we cannot proceed quickly with the final scheme for some of our junctions that need 

improvements, we must do some mitigation in the immediate term where problems are identified.  It is no good 

just to say, “We will live with the risk”.  No, you are not going to live with the risk.  We will put in emergency 

measures.  If you think that is not happening at Tulse Hill, I am very happy also -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  It is not, so it would be good to. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I will come down and visit it with you and we will have a look at it, 

if that would be helpful. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That would be great.  Thank you. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am very happy to do that because it is really important to me.   

 

Page 30



  
 

 

On road maintenance, I think it is worth clarifying this.  Chair, forgive me; I cannot remember if it was this 

Committee or the Budget and Performance Committee where Patrick Doig [Divisional Finance Director, Surface 

Transport, TfL] came along and tried to explain the difference between road maintenance and -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, it was Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, proactive roads renewals.  We have had to pause proactive 

road renewals because London’s roads do not have any sustained and steady investment because of the 

removal totally of the Government subsidy, as you know.  However, to be clear, we have absolutely not 

stopped road maintenance, and any issues around road maintenance are being dealt with.  They are being 

addressed.  If potholes emerge, if particular issues emerge, those are still being tackled.  I just want to be very 

clear about that distinction.  I think Patrick [Doig] did seek to make that distinction at the other Committee 

but I just wanted to be clear on that. 

 

We have been gradually improving the condition of our road assets over the last ten years.  I do not want this 

to be a step back, clearly, because it is very important we continue to have that approach, and this is 

something that we will be again revisiting in the forthcoming business plan, as we will do all of our spending 

given where our financial position now sits compared to where we projected. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is great.  Just to come back on to the Crossrail budget, we 

have some figures in terms of the project being delayed and the additional costs which TfL will have to bear 

the brunt of regarding that additional loan from the DfT.  How much further below budget would we have 

been on the operating deficit if Crossrail had opened in December 2018? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Let me just distinguish the two things if I may, Chair, through you, 

because it is quite important that we get this.  The funding of Crossrail for the capital delivery, for the 

additional money needed to build the thing and complete the construction, is a £1.3 billion Government-to-

GLA loan.  That is not an issue for TfL directly.  That is a loan to the GLA which is then passed through as a 

grant from the GLA to TfL.  Just for completion, there is an additional £100 million from the GLA directly to us 

that did not come from the Government.  There is a contingency available which we have not yet got to, to be 

very clear, of up to £750 million which would require us to negotiate a loan facility with the DfT.  That would 

be directly TfL negotiating a loan facility to the DfT if that were to be required over and above, in effect, the 

£1.4 billion.  

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just on those figures, does that include the interest? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  That includes the whole thing.  That absolutely includes the whole 

thing.  That, therefore, totals to a potential £2.15 billion additional funding.  That is in addition, by the way, to 

the £300 million I referred to earlier, Chair, in terms of additional funding from the original spend of the 

project.   

 

That does not affect our deficit numbers because our deficit number is around the operational performance of 

the organisation.  The bit that is important in the operational performance bit is that we would have potentially 

been £20 million better off because that is the amount of revenue income we might have expected from the 

short window of time had Crossrail opened as planned on 9 December until the end of the financial year.  

Clearly, that increases, so in the current financial year that increases up to some £200 million that we would 

have expected from Crossrail, new income being generated.  Part of the new income is mitigated by the plan 

that we have to still go ahead with what we are talking about with stage 5A of Crossrail, which is us taking over 

Page 31



  
 

 

the services - the high-level services, we call them - into Paddington from the Great Western end of the 

railway, and we would get, therefore, some revenue with that.  We are working very closely with Network Rail 

and the Government on that approach and that plan for the end of this year. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is great.  Thank you.  Just one final question from me.  The 

final forecast for 2018/19 is showing an operating cost of £354 million below deficit.  Will this continue into 

2019/20? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  I am very confident.  In fact, just yesterday I spent the whole 

day from 9.00am right through until 5.30pm going through in granular detail with my Chief Financial Officer 

(CFO) the divisional budget and business plans for this year of every division, and we pored all over it.  We 

gave them huge scrutiny, even more so, Chair, than the Board gives me, generally, in terms of granular detail 

as to what their plans look like and how those will materialise.  There are still some areas where the actual 

detail of how they will find the savings and delivery of what they need will materialise, but generally we came 

away from the end of those sessions thinking there are credible plans in place. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  OK, thank you.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It sounds like an exhausting day, I have to say!   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, sorry.  Can I just quickly go back to that £1.3 billion?  You are saying that is a 

Government-GLA organised loan, so the GLA is borrowing the money? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is the GLA then that will be servicing the debt? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  All right.  That, therefore, does not become a cost to TfL or to Crossrail? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, that is correct. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  However, it does to the people of London? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  That is correct. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  That is fine.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on to our next section, which is rail in London, and 

Assembly Member Bailey is going to lead that off. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Good morning, Mike.  As we said, this section concentrates on rail.  Our seminal report, 

Broken Rails, talked about an overall strategic plan, a joint plan between yourselves and Network Rail on rail in 

London.  How much work has been done on that plan, and what will TfL’s role be in that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Thank you for that.  Can I just again, Chair, say that we very much 

welcome this report?  I think transferring responsibility for key rail assets to TfL would be a first step towards a 

Page 32



  
 

 

long-overdue transformation of the transport network in south and south east London in particular.  My view is 

the current franchise system is broken beyond repair: large, dysfunctional franchises not fit for purpose.  This is 

not a fault of the individual operators, by the way - they are working to the system that is in place - but it is 

not fit for purpose in an urban context, whatever the differences might be for long intercity contexts.   

 

‘Metroisation’ will allow us to make targeted improvements.  The work that we have done so far, in answer to 

your question, is to look at particular junctions where, if you were to be able to invest in infrastructure 

improvements, you would liberalise those junctions and free them up for much greater-capacity services.  

Junctions such as at Herne Hill, at Tulse Hill, Lewisham, Balham. Falcon, which you might not have heard 

about, is where the West London Line meets the Brighton Main Line at Clapham Junction.  A number of 

junctions along the South London Line best dealt with by simplifying service patterns and recasting the 

timetable: Crofton Road Junction, Cambria Junction, Canterbury Road Junction, Brixton Junction.   

 

It is really interesting that where we do have a grip of National Rail services, we have seen some really 

significant improvements.  On the eastern and western TfL routes, which have of course become part of 

Crossrail, the east has improved 2% since we took it over, with the highest moving annual average performance 

that it has ever seen in history, that route.  The west, remarkably - we have only seen it during the financial 

year - has seen growth of up to 7.8% already just by us applying the level of focus we need to.   

 

I want to continue to feed into the Keith Williams [Rail] Review.  I have met with Keith Williams, who I knew 

previously when he was on our Board.  I also knew him when I worked at Heathrow.  Keith is really digging into 

the granular details of what needs to be done in a London context to make this real, make this matter for 

Londoners.  It cannot be right, Chair, that people in parts of London not served by our railways or not served 

by the Underground suffer a totally disproportionately infrequent level of service compared to elsewhere.  We 

will continue to push for more progress here.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You have partially answered what would have been my final question.  I will come back to 

my first question because I feel I need more detail on that.  What progress is TfL making on engaging with 

partners around the metroisation, and what possible timetable could we be talking about to see some 

significant improvements? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think we do need to wait for the Keith Williams review.  I would 

like to say we could do something outside of that, but I think the Keith Williams review is held up by the 

Government and everybody else as being a really important moment in the industry.  I really do get the sense - 

and it is not for me to speak for Keith Williams - that he is extraordinarily mindful of the opportunity that this 

present to recalibrate the way the National Rail industry is constructed.   

 

I would also say that I have developed a very strong relationship already with the new Chief Executive of 

Network Rail in terms of the dialogue with him about what strategically needs to happen.  He is looking, in the 

midst of reorganising Network Rail, to bring in much more local accountability.  I of course, as you would 

expect, have been pushing for what that means in a London context.  What I do not want to do is to see all the 

routes out of London have supreme ownership, but to find out that parts of the West Anglia routes, for 

example, on the Overground are managed from York.  That really would be a step backwards for me.  We are 

continuing to work with them on that.   

 

I do not want to mislead you and say that we can do things in advance of the Williams review.  I think we will 

be giving some early indications in a White Paper context by the autumn.  We are not that far away from 

seeing something really quite exciting here. 

Page 33



  
 

 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Have you done lots of work in TfL about the case for metroisation?  Is that your start 

point when Keith Williams comes back? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, and I think we have moved away perhaps from being explicit 

about the term devolution because in a way that was quite a narrow definition of us getting control which 

meant that the asset and the infrastructure and the capacity enhancements fundamentally still sat with the 

separate infrastructure, owner and operator.  Our view now is very much that TfL should have a much greater 

role in specifying where pinch-points need to be removed, how we need to ensure that people have that 

frequency of service that I refer to.  That is the key thing for me.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Where and when and how will you be making that case? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We are making it through the Keith Williams review and 

continually in discussions with the DfT Ministers and others. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is a clarification.  I am going to circle back to my first question now and ask what 

progress has been made between TfL and Network Rail on developing a joint strategic rail strategy for 

London? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We are working with them.  We are intending that by the autumn 

there will be a strategy developed on that, assuming we can get alignment of our thinking.  Again, I raised that 

just a couple of weeks ago in my latest discussion with Andrew Haines [Chief Executive, Network Rail].  By the 

autumn we should see something emerging on that joint strategic perspective.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  Can you give us any indication of how far along you are?  Is it a good feeling?  Is it 

going to be delivered quickly? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am an optimist and I am very -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  We know that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We need to be careful about that, don’t we? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  History shows that. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Only in this context am I an optimist.  I am a pessimist by nature, 

but I am an optimist in this context.  I do think that the new leadership of Network Rail is giving real 

cognisance to this.  It also does help that the Chair of Network Rail used to do the job that I am doing, so he 

fundamentally gets it as well.  That dialogue and the nature of those discussions is at the moment very 

positive.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Are there any updates on Network Rail’s proposal for London’s strategic forum for rail? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No.  I cannot give you any update on that because I do not know 

where they have got to with that work. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  There has been no conversation between you? 

Page 34



  
 

 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There has been some discussion at detail level.  Are you talking 

about more frequent and longer train services, that particular piece of work? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That and everything else.  Could you tell us about TfL’s involvement in this? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We do input into what Network Rail is doing.  Even in terms of 

their Control Period 6 enhancements, which are now in place, there is the programme of Crossrail 

enhancements of course.  There is King’s Cross capacity enhancement as part of the East Coast Main Line.  

Capacity enhancements to Stevenage Turnback, new platforms there to enhance the services into Moorgate.  

Work is going on there.  There is Felixstowe to Nuneaton as part of the freight network, which again helps 

remove some of the freight traffic from parts of our network in London which frees up the potential for 

enhanced transport capacity.  Completion of the West Anglia Main Line upgrade at Meridian Water Station.  All 

of those areas we have a significant input to and they are all part of control period 6 in terms of Network Rail’s 

plans going forward. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are happy with the level of dialogue? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am very happy with the level of strategic dialogue.  What I want 

to continue to see is real progress on the ground because that is what matters to passengers. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  Just to slightly change tack, what progress has TfL made around engagement 

practices with passengers at stations? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We meet with London TravelWatch, as you will know, around 40 

times a year.  Members of my team meet with TravelWatch quarterly.  We run regularly passenger surveys and 

customer satisfaction surveys and have dedicated complaints processes.  We have also a much higher level of 

democratic authority and credibility, as you will know, than train-operating companies do in the way that they 

are set up.  We will of course continue to explore what more we might do in this area.  I know this was a key 

recommendation - recommendation 3 I think - of your report, so we will continue to explore what else we can 

do.  There is a new Interim Chief Executive of London TravelWatch.  I look forward to meeting her to have that 

discussion as well.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  As you just mentioned TravelWatch, we do have in the audience today 

Joanna Simons, who is the Interim Chief Executive at TravelWatch -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We have not met, so nice to see you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  -- and Arthur Leathley, who is the Chair, and members are going to 

have a quick hello with them afterwards.   I am sure that would be useful going forward. 

 

Could you perhaps in the follow-up letter to this pick up TfL’s involvement with this London strategic forum 

for rail, which Network Rail announced?  We have been trying to get more detail about it.  It sounds like it 

could be a good thing going forward. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, of course. 

 

Page 35



  
 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Mike, it will not surprise you that I am going to ask about services into Moorgate, 

the Great Northern services, which we know that part of the franchise is going to be severed off from the main 

Thameslink.  I questioned you on this at a Transport Plenary earlier this year, and you told me that getting 

information out of the DfT was like pulling teeth.  You had a meeting in the next few days following that.  I am 

just wondering, has there been any progress on this? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There has, I am delighted to say.  We now have all the information 

that we need to properly analyse what will be required on that route, and the team is beavering away at our 

office in Palestra working that through.  Geoff Hobbs [Director of Public Service Transport Planning, TfL], who 

I mentioned earlier on, is taking the lead for us on that.  We now have that information.  That is good progress, 

certainly much more positive than when I last talked to you on this subject. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Good.  You will be making a bid for that line? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We will, absolutely.  That was committed to in the meeting of the 

Secretary of State for Transport and the Mayor some time ago. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Lovely.  We were promised with the new timetable last autumn, which was a fiasco, 

that we would already have a metroisation of that line.  Are you confident you can deliver that if you take the 

franchise? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am.  I did refer to the Stevenage Turnback as part of the answer 

to Assembly Member Bailey in terms of the capacity enhancement that gives you for the Moorgate routes.  It is 

very well-matched with our model of how we would run a frequent metro-style service.  I am very confident we 

will get into that.  Of course I would be very happy to share with you, as our analysis continues, the detail of 

what we would want that concession to look like.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Good.  My letter this week to the Secretary of State for Transport was probably 

unneeded but I have sent one. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It never does any harm, I am sure.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That is really what I wanted to ask you on that, but could I just unpick a little bit of 

what you said earlier?  You said you are not talking in the terms of devolution anymore.  That is in terms of the 

Williams review, which is looking at how you can best balance the private and public ownership. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I understand the Secretary of State for Transport has already said that he is not in 

favour of wholesale nationalisation, though I personally would be.  Why are you changing your stance - I am 

not calling it devolution because that is a term that we have used, as we understand it - about control coming 

down to TfL? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am glad you ask the question because it is worth clarifying.  The 

point I am trying to make is that what we are talking about with metroisation, in terms of a much more 

granular involvement in the asset, in the track and the signalling configuration, is a step beyond devolution.   

 

Page 36



  
 

 

The success of the North London line, where we have seen a nearly 300% increase in passenger volumes and 

an increase in service frequency since we took over responsibility for that line of route, was done with us 

directly investing with the process to prioritise track work, station work and everything else.  That was almost 

bypassing the system to make that happen because - it is not a criticism of Network Rail - that would never 

have featured in a control period submission that they put forward that they would want to work to, in terms 

of national priorities.  I want to make sure that London and those types of junctions that I rather laboriously 

and boringly ran through a while ago are properly prioritised so that the greatest frequency enhancements 

possible are part of this, as well as the incentive regime being based on on-time performance of trains arriving 

into their destination.  It is a wider, more holistic approach that we are talking about.  I do not want it to be 

seen as backing away from devolution.  It is more of an enhancement to devolution. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That is positive.  Apologies, Chair, I just have one more.  The Barking to Gospel Oak 

line.  I was at a residents’ meeting last night and we had lots of complaints.  Do we have an update on that?  

When can we expect the new trains? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We do have an update.  I can tell you that the training is now 

underway with the drivers, so that is really encouraging.  We are continuing to push for a date for when those 

trains will be ready for passenger service but they are now running under test on the line with driver training, 

up to three sessions a day, which is up from two, where we were as recently as last week.  That is a further 

enhancement.  That started in earnest at the beginning of April with broadly a two-month window to ensure 

that the drivers are properly trained and familiarised, and hopefully then we will be able to get those starting to 

come into passenger service.   

 

You will be aware, I am sure, that Bombardier are responsible for delivering the new trains and also for the 

378 trains that are now running on the route in shortened configuration because we had to take a carriage out 

of their five-car configuration to run them on the route.  Although that gives you overall an increase in 

capacity over what we had with the old diesel trains, I am aware it is only a half-hour frequency and that is 

incredibly frustrating.   

 

You can begin to imagine the vociferous nature of the dialogue that the Mayor has had with the Chair and the 

Chief Executive of Bombardier.  I saw the Chief Executive of Bombardier just a couple of weeks ago when he 

came to London.  He has some new people in his team now, a new President of their transportation division 

[Danny Di Perna], and as they now are less involved in aviation given their partnership with Airbus, they have 

moved over some technical resource from their aviation division to look at some of the technical challenges 

they have been facing in rolling stock.  That is extraordinarily positive.  It is a really important piece of work to 

do.   

 

It is also important we are joined up with others who have train delays as a result of the initial train not being 

delivered to us, for example, South Western Railway.  I met with MTR [franchise operator] last week, with their 

new Global Chief Executive and current Chair, to discuss how we can work with them to ensure that they have 

confidence in new trains rolling out on their railway.  That is not part of our responsibility but it is very 

important that we keep the links with other operators on this as well.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  OK.  That is helpful.  Are you able to give me a date as to when you think there will 

be a full operating service? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I would certainly hope it would be early summer that we can give 

you that date.  You will have that. 

Page 37



  
 

 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.  The complaints I particularly had were, well, the ongoing issues, but 

also over this bank holiday I think there with some issues again with frequencies. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I know.  I should place on record, Chair, that I am extraordinarily 

sympathetic to what the passengers and users of this line have gone through.  I said to the Chief Executive of 

Bombardier, “You may look at a map of London and think this is a tiny railway of no significance.  It is 

absolutely not”.  The volume of people who use this railway and the disruption they are being put through 

because of the failure of these trains to be commissioned is significant and I am extraordinarily angry on their 

behalf about this.  We will continue to push for progress.  I am really, really encouraged by the new team at 

Bombardier and their relentless focus on this, in a way that perhaps I was not always encouraged before.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Due to the failures previously of the electrification as well. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, quite. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Just before I bring in Assembly Member [Navin] Shah, I presume 

Geoff Hobbs [Director of Public Service Transport Planning] and the team worked on the metroisation plan.  It 

is a superb piece of work.  If Members have not read it, for the transport geek in us it is superb and it does take 

devolution to another level. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It does. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is a really thought-through plan.  It goes down to the detail of how 

many additional trains on different routes there would be.  We started to hint at some of that in our piece of 

work but this is detail which I am sure Members would support. We will move to our next section, which is on 

taxi and private hire.  Assembly Member Kurten is going to lead that for us. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you very much, Chair.  Good morning. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Good morning. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I am just wondering, are you planning to update the Taxi Action Plan and if so, how are 

you planning to update it? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Obviously you will be aware that the Taxi and Private Hire Action 

Plan was produced and we are continuing to develop our relationship and our issues around this.  It does link in 

with some of the issues that emerged from the Task and Finish Group that was led by the DfT, where there 

were a number of recommendations that emerged: on cross-border hiring, for example, on national minimum 

standards for taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) licensing, on the statutory definition of both “plying for hire” 

and “pre-booked”, on workers’ rights, on national compliance and enforcing powers, on issuing Fixed Penalty 

Notices, regulating pedicabs, very importantly, and capping taxi and PHV licenses.  We were an active member 

of the DfT group and the changes were discussed in detail.   

 

Not all of these issues have been addressed in the way that we wanted, but the measures that were set out in 

the Mayor’s Taxi and Private Hire Action Plan in 2016 that linked with this were the controls over cross-border 

hire and the capping of driver and vehicle licence numbers, the definition of “plying for hire” and “pre-booked 

services”, and greater enforcement of the legislation to regulate pedicabs.  At the moment, we are in the 

Page 38



  
 

 

situation where we are awaiting further response from the DfT to the report and we hope that will result in 

positive and swift action being taken among those action areas.  That will then allow us to not necessarily redo 

the Taxi and Private Hire Action Plan but to ensure that it is properly relevant going forward, given this other 

piece of work.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Many of those things that you mention would need some new primary legislation in 

Westminster to happen.  Can you say any more about the discussions you have had with people in the DfT, the 

APPG and other Members of Parliament as to possibly when the primary legislation might occur? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  You are quite right to say that.  Just to give you some detail 

around that, on workers’ rights, for example, the Government has agreed that those rights go beyond taxi and 

private hire.  It may not be in the scope of licensing authorities to determine.  However, I am very mindful that 

passenger safety is ultimately a very important issue here and we need to ensure that. In terms of driver hours, 

there is the opportunity sometimes for drivers to work for more than one operator without the same controls 

you would have, for example, for an HGV driver, where you have your personal tachograph and your data as to 

how many hours you can drive comes with you.  If you move from one HGV to another, that comes with you.  

It is about you as an individual.  There are not those sorts of controls in place for PHV drivers.  That is 

something we need to be looking at.   

 

On national compliance and enforcement powers, the Government has agreed to introduce legislation in that 

area.  We have had preliminary discussions with the DfT as to where that legislation might be included and how 

it might be able to be enacted to enforce Fixed Penalty Notices fairly and proportionally.  Again, we would 

need additional powers to issue Fixed Penalty Notices to private hire drivers.  We are working with the DfT on 

amending current legislation there.  That does not require primary legislation, that would be a statutory 

instrument and we will continue to push the Government for that instrument to be enacted.   

 

On regulating pedicabs, I am delighted to say the Government is really supportive of pedicab regulation, which 

I think we all remember.  Unfortunately, because of this issue with Private Members’ Bills that seems to always 

happen in Parliament, the Private Member’s Bill was not progressed and it does not look like there is going to 

be sufficient time within this parliamentary session.  However, the Government did say that if it did get 

scuppered, the Private Member’s Bill, or did get talked out or whatever the technical term is, then it will put 

forward its own legislation in this area as well.   

 

The Government has no plans to take forward the proposal on capping the licence numbers.  However, clearly 

we are exploring the other levers that we have put in place, things like the removal of the exemption from 

Congestion Charge for PHVs, which, as you know, has just happened quite recently.  Again, we need to tie that 

in with the cross-border hiring issue.  Again, this Task and Finish Group did not start with a view that that was 

necessary.  They now understand, following our input, why it is an important area as well.   

 

Look, there is lots to do on this but we are inching forward, I would say. 

 

David Kurten AM:  There is something I want to pick up on in terms of safety and also related to 

cross-border hiring.  It is an idea that has come from some of the taxi organisations that I and you are in 

contact with, setting up some kind of national database or register of taxi drivers and PHV drivers.  Without 

any kind of national register, someone who has done something wrong here in London can just go and get 

licensed in Southend or Sheffield or something, and then, with cross-border hiring, they can continue to work 

here.  Have you had any discussions with the DfT about that in particular?  I think that is something very 

important to do. 

Page 39



  
 

 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I cannot comment on that specifically.  I am not sure if we have, 

but again I can communicate back with you as to whether we have had any detailed discussions.  “I do not 

actually know”, is the simple answer to that.  However, I would say in principle it seems very sensible and if it is 

administratively feasible, which is often the challenge with these sorts of things, then that is something that 

does make sense, of course. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Particularly in terms of safety because if someone has -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Absolutely, which is at the forefront of our thinking.  I know you 

are a great advocate of that as well.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  Thanks.  I am sure you are aware that the Transport Committee has just released a 

report on the taxi and PHV trade.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  There are a couple of things I would like to ask you about in there.  We had some 

discussions with the licensing authority over in New York and they have another category of operator which is 

a ‘high-volume operator’.  What are your thoughts on implementing that and creating a new category for 

private hire operators that have a significant number of vehicles, drivers and journeys? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am obviously aware of that recommendation.  Just to reassure 

you, our Director of Licensing, Regulation and Charging, Helen Chapman, has regular discussions with many of 

our partner cities, including very importantly with New York, about how they operate their model to fit their 

city.  Clearly there are quite significant legislative differences between different jurisdictions, as you will 

understand, but that is an area where she has begun some discussion with them, albeit it is only a few weeks 

since your report was published.  I think at the end of March [2019] it was published, was it not? 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  Is that something you could do unilaterally as the licensing authority here or would 

that need some new legislation in Westminster? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think we would need some legislation at first glance, yes.   

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  What are your thoughts on the statutory definitions - you mentioned that earlier - of 

“pre-booked” and “plying for hire”?  That does seem to create some confusion and now with the introduction 

of apps, which have come in after those statutory definitions were put in place, that is blurring the boundaries.  

What are your thoughts on those?  Are those definitions good enough or do they need to be updated?  Do 

they need to be more clearly defined?   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We have been consistently saying they need to be more clearly 

defined.  Unfortunately, this is one area where the Task and Finish Group or the Government response was 

disagreement on providing greater clarity and there are no plans to progress from their perspective.  That is 

disappointing, if I am honest.  I think this does require greater clarity.   

 

There was a legal case quite recently that did identify some clearer definition on this.  We are just exploring 

whether that is applicable and how we might use that, instead of any legislative guidance, as a sort of 

precedent from a legal perspective given a decision made in another jurisdiction outside London. 

Page 40



  
 

 

 

David Kurten AM:  Is that something you could do, bring a case before a judge so that they could actually 

give a legal definition? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is probably not for us to bring the case forward but certainly 

that is why we are exploring, where there was a case brought forward, whether there is something we could 

apply on the back of that.   

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  Where was that case? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think it was Reading, from memory.  I want to say Reading.  It 

was either Reading or Oxford.  Forgive me, Chair, I cannot quite remember.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  No, that is fine. 

 

David Kurten AM:  All right.  Thank you.  Another thing in the report the Transport Committee just did was 

mention a charter mark to increase standards in the industry.  What are your thoughts on developing proposals 

for a charter mark? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Look, again, I would love to be able to apply all sorts of 

conditions.  Our regulatory framework just does not allow us to do that yet.  We are the licensing and 

regulatory authority but imposing working conditions on PHV drivers is not part of our regulatory remit as it 

stands.  However, we are working with teams more broadly across City Hall to explore what alternative 

measures could be introduced to improve driver welfare, which I do think is a really important part of this.  I am 

mindful that PHV drivers are an incredibly potentially vulnerable group of employees, people working across 

London who should have proper rights applied to them.  That is just a good moral thing for us all to support, as 

well as, of course, recognising the safety issues, as you rightly identified before.  We do not have the powers at 

the moment but it is something that we continue to have discussions on more broadly across City Hall. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  You introduced the Congestion Charge for PHVs.  Do you have any plans to reassess 

that and if so, have you made any assessments of the impact of the Congestion Charge or possibly removing 

the Congestion Charge from PHVs? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is obviously very early days.  We will be monitoring the effect of 

the removal of this exemption for PHV drivers both on traffic and unique vehicle entries into the zone, which is 

an important additional piece of information.  Indeed, as part of our wider monitoring programme, including 

the monitoring of the ULEZ, we will be analysing how traffic around the boundary of the zone also behaves.  

That is an area of concern and of course it will become an even greater concern as we move forward to the 

ULEZ extension in a couple of years.  We will continue to have regular engagement with taxi and private hire 

teams.  I have met with both the private hire industry and the taxi trade in the last couple of weeks since the 

start of April and I continue to have regular discussions with them.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Another thing that is of great concern to people in the industry is the lack of rapid 

charging points.  I know you are putting more in but can you tell us how many rapid charging points there are 

at the moment?  When are there going to be enough for the trade? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We are on target to install 300 rapid charging points by the end of 

2020.  We currently have 176 in place, of which 71 are dedicated to taxis, and we are working with other 

Page 41



  
 

 

highways authorities and the taxi trade to deliver additional ranks at all 30 Crossrail stations.  So far we have 

secured locations for taxi ranks at all but 12 of those.  That is across the whole network.  We will continue to 

work with the highways authorities, offering financial assistance where we can, to deliver these.   

 

I recognise the taxi trade has raised some concerns over the planned location of some of the Crossrail taxi ranks 

and we will continue to work with the trade on the specific details of those on a station-by-station basis.  You 

will also be aware, of course, that the Mayor has written and I have also written to London boroughs to ensure 

that they do their utmost to provide rapid charging point facilities on their own roads.  We have had some 

progress from some boroughs on that and there is more work still to be done, I have no doubt. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Some boroughs have a lot, some boroughs do not have any, and I understand that the 

City of Westminster does not have any, which is the place where taxi drivers operate more than any other 

borough.  What are you going to do about that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We will continue to follow up.  As I said earlier on in answer to 

another question, I have regular meetings with all the boroughs across London on this subject.  I will continue 

to push them and every borough to engage with us on putting rapid charging points where they can on their 

roads, and, where we can, do it on ours. 

 

David Kurten AM:  In the meantime, you have this situation where taxi drivers, if they want to buy a new taxi, 

have to buy a zero-emission capable taxi but private hire drivers, if they want to buy a new PHV, are still 

allowed to purchase a Euro 6 diesel engine.  As I understand, that is going to continue for another three and a 

half years.  Do you not think it is time to reassess that and let taxi drivers be able to purchase Euro 6 diesel 

engines again because PHV drivers are allowed to continue to purchase Euro 6 diesel vehicles? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  As everyone will know - the Mayor has been very clear about this 

and I fully support him - London’s air quality is an issue of public health.  London’s filthy air is a real challenge 

for our city for this generation and generations to come, for young people in particular in terms of the health 

of their lungs and their breathing capacity as a result of the air quality in London.  We will continue to do what 

we think is the right thing to make the greatest contribution to improving air quality in London.  I think the 

balance we have at the moment is about right.  Of course we keep it under review.  You can only begin to 

imagine the submissions made to me at both those meetings of PHV representative bodies and the taxi trade 

representative organisations.  Both of them made quite different submissions to me.  On the balance of where 

we are, I think we have it about right but we do have to continue to keep it under review. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I would actually disagree with you on the basis of numbers.  The number of new taxis that 

are bought every year is approximately 1,400.  The number of new PHVs bought every year is approaching 

10,000.  If you are serious about reducing air quality, why did you not go for the part for the trade that has the 

bigger number?  Surely you would improve air quality far more if you required PHVs to purchase only zero-

emission capable vehicles.  That does not make any sense to me. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think that is why we made the decisions we made around the 

following consultation around PHVs and the removal of the exemption from congestion charging.  That is 

another very clear indication.  Incidentally, for the ULEZ we are seeing broadly about 70% compliance in the 

early figures that I have just had access to this morning, from vehicles entering the ULEZ.   

 

We have to see how these things play out.  It is always easy - and I know you are not advocating this, for the 

avoidance of doubt - to kneejerk into particular interventions that can have unintended consequences.  I think 

Page 42



  
 

 

we have the balance about right at the moment.  I listen very, very clearly to individual views and concerns.  I 

have had some interesting views expressed just recently by one of the taxi trade representatives which we are 

exploring actively and positively, and we will continue to work with them when constructive ideas are put 

before us.   

 

David Kurten AM:  You brought forward the implementation of the ULEZ by a year.  Are you going to bring 

forward the implementation of PHVs having to purchase zero-emission capable only vehicles? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There are no plans to do that at the moment.  We brought 

forward the ULEZ by a year because the urgency to tackle London’s toxic air is self-evident to anyone. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You do not feel that it is urgent enough to prevent private hire diesel vehicles? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  As I say, we continue to keep under review all our policy 

interventions.  There will be things that over time we may need to amend and change.  It is important that we 

keep all these under review and properly assessed over time. 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  One final question which is also of great concern to the trade is the lack of access or 

the restriction of access for taxi vehicles, which are all wheelchair accessible, into some areas into which they 

were allowed to go before.  Access has been restricted, particularly in roads like Tooley Street, Tottenham 

Court Road and so on.  This is a great concern to taxi drivers and also the users of taxis who use them because 

they need to, because they have a physical impairment or they use a wheelchair, and will no longer be able to 

have easy access to some of these roads.  Do you not think you need to reconsider some of these restrictions 

on taxi drivers and make sure that they are still able to use Tooley Street, Tottenham Court Road and other 

areas? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  “Yes, where appropriate”, is the simple answer to that, and that is 

why the consultations we have had recently, for example on Tooley Street, are genuine consultations where we 

will be clearly reviewing those issues.  There will, no doubt, have been many such submissions made regarding 

Tooley Street.   

 

However, we do have to do this on the balance, just given the discussion earlier on with Assembly Member 

[Caroline] Russell around how this feels for pedestrians and cyclists as well.  It is always a balance.  When you 

have a constrained road space in a city that was constructed the way that London is, as you well know, this is 

always a careful balance, but I can assure you that the consultation, for example into Tooley Street, was a 

genuine one and we will be issuing the outcome of that very shortly. 

 

David Kurten AM:  When will the results of the consultation -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Very shortly, within the next month or so. 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  I just wanted to say I think you may slightly have missed 

what we were getting at in terms of the charter mark.  We are not talking about regulation because we 

understand there are restrictions.  We were thinking of it being more like a voluntary scheme - the Mayor has 

some other workplace ones - where you could put in some of the things that you ideally would like to raise the 

game across this part of the trade.  It is the idea that you have a private hire firm saying, “Yes, I have the gold 

Page 43



  
 

 

charter mark for this, which shows my staff only drive for this number of hours, we have their welfare at heart 

and we have other safety measures in place”.  It is about how we drive up standards.  We were not thinking 

about regulation, we were thinking about a voluntary scheme there.  Is that something you will consider? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Absolutely.  I think that is a really sensible consideration.  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It was just something we felt was a really good way you could push 

standards up outside of the technical regulation where you are so restricted by Government.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Mike, while we are on taxis, could you just explain again the reason for reducing the life 

expectancy of some cabs from 15 years to 12 years? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Again, this is entirely around what we are seeking to do with 

improving air quality in the city.  This is a balance of measures that we are putting in place where we are trying 

to be measured and give consideration to everyone involved in the trade and the industry, and trying to do the 

right thing.  This is a decision we made based on the analysis that we gathered as to what is practical and what 

is deliverable.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Are you aware that by doing so you have certainly damaged the London Electric Vehicle 

Company (LEVC) because the value of their second-hand vehicles have dropped, but also if you were minded 

to exchange your current TX4 or whatever for a new electric vehicle, your part exchange value has gone down?  

I remember talking to one cab driver who actually cancelled his order of the LEVC because of the value had 

gone down on his vehicle. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am aware of that risk.  As I said to Assembly Member 

[David] Kurten, I have had various representations, as you would imagine, from the taxi trade on this and many 

other subjects.  This is something we have to continue to keep under review, but fundamentally and 

overarchingly my concern is to ensure we do deliver on the Mayor’s commitment to improve London’s air 

quality.  We have to find the right interventions in balance to do that and, on balance, this was seen as an 

important one to apply.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Do you not look at the consequences of your actions?  This is costing real people real 

money.  If I can give you another example, if you were to have bought your cab, say, ten years ago and you are 

thinking, “Right, well, it will last me for the rest of my cabbing career because it will be paid for”, you have now 

reduced that person’s ability to earn money by three years.  He is working on the basis that he is now only 

working part-time because he is getting ready to retire.  He has a cab that is paid for.  If he cannot use that 

cab for the remaining three years that he was planning to use it for, then he is out of business.  He cannot 

afford to hire a new taxi.  He certainly would not be able to pay £60,000 for a new LEVC.  Did you do any kind 

of -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We did.  Chair, I can certainly share the analysis with you 

afterwards.  We did do quite a lot of detailed analysis.  I do not have that immediately to hand in detail but I 

can certainly share that with you. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I appreciate that. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I will just emphasise again, without repeating myself, that I listen 

very carefully to the very constructive dialogue that I do have with the taxi trade.  It has not always been a 

Page 44



  
 

 

constructive dialogue with TfL’s senior executives.  I like to think I do get into the spirit of listening.  Indeed, 

Assembly Member [Florence] Eshalomi was instrumental in helping me with a discussion with the PHV industry 

recently as well.  There was not always full resolution of the issues because there will not be.  There will not be 

universal consensus between the private hire trade, the taxi trade and ourselves in terms of our strategic 

objectives on air quality and everything else, but I am very happy to share with you, through the Chair, the 

detail of why that analysis, we think, is appropriate and why it is therefore -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Did you do an equalities analysis of that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, we did.  We did.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  You did? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Could we see that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  I just think that for what is a very small period of time, you have done a really bad bit 

of damage to a particular section of the trade unnecessarily. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I understand the point and, as I say, I can assure you the trade has 

raised this very directly and very coherently with me as well. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Do you have no plans to compensate those people that you have arbitrarily taken money 

from? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  They raised it with me a couple of weeks ago.  You have now 

raised it with me again.  It is certainly something I will take away, we will have a further look at and I will come 

back, through you, Chair, to give you a full update as to where we are on that. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  Do you have any idea of the number of taxis that are affected? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Not off the top of my head, no.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  You would have that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, we would have that data. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  All right.  I am happy to have -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Sure. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will have that in writing, thank you.  Assembly Member Bailey and 

then we are going to move on to bus services. 

 

Page 45



  
 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Not to labour the point, just to follow on from Keith, in your qualitative research you 

looked at the number of taxi drivers who would be affected in their retirement prospects because of the capital 

cost of the cab and so on?  Your research does look at those things? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I believe it does, yes.  Again, I am very happy to share that with 

you either in a separate meeting with a smaller group or through you, Chair, and then anyone who wants to be 

in a separate briefing on that I could arrange. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It also estimated the impact it would have on air quality once you had -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  That was part of our consideration, of course. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  I do not want to labour the point, I just want to make sure that this whole thing has 

been looked at.  I would love to see that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us get that full information and then let us get a briefing set up for 

those Members who are interested.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I would be very interested in that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Clearly I know there is a consultation going on about this at the 

moment but let us take up Mike’s offer to get a briefing on that.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Of course.  Absolutely. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on then to bus services.  Assembly Member Copley is 

going to lead on this.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Despite stabilisation in bus journey times, bus usage continues to fall.  

What factors are driving this and what needs to be done to address it? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There are a number of factors.  First of all, I would say that the 

decline in bus usage in London is significantly less than it is across the country.  I think just in the last 24 hours 

there has been some data emerging about bus usage elsewhere in the country.  From our perspective certainly 

there is a more positive story to tell.   

 

It is fair to say that there are a number of different factors.  One is the increased number of people walking and 

cycling short journeys.  There is no doubt about that, particularly when you have an app-based set of 

information.  As you know, we released all our data in real time for any app developer to use.  That no doubt 

helps because just a few short years ago, none of us would necessarily have had the immediacy of knowing 

when the next bus was going to arrive and therefore being able to make a judgment call such as, “I am not 

going to wait five minutes, I am going to walk because it is only going to take me eight minutes”, or whatever 

else.  That is in some ways a positive.  That is one factor. 

 

It is certainly true, as in the discussion we had earlier on with Assembly Member Russell around the increase in 

van numbers in London and therefore some of the traffic levels, that some buses have had some impedance.  

You will also be aware that our recent central London bus consultation - we published the outcome on 

12 April [2019] - was based at least in part on the view that some bus congestion and bus speed issues were 

Page 46



  
 

 

caused by bus-on-bus congestion on those busiest routes.  As I have quoted to this Committee before, 

certainly to some of you individually, there are 101 buses an hour scheduled to run up Kingsway, for example.  

That often leads to buses being the greatest cause of slow speeds for buses in parts of the capital.  There are a 

number of factors. 

 

I want to ensure that we continue to think out of the box in terms of how we attract people back on buses, not 

just in central London and inner London but also across London overall, where particularly there is not the 

access to decent rail journeys on a radial basis around the capital.  There is much more work to do. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You mentioned people switching to walking and obviously it is a good thing if people are 

switching from buses to walking and cycling.  Do you have any hard data on what modes bus users are 

switching to? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No, we do not have hard data, but again, just some of the 

indications in light of the scorecard measures that we were talking about earlier give us some proxies for what 

might be happening.  It is also true to say that since the bus network was configured, as it was largely a few 

years ago, the performance and capacity of the Tube network have changed hugely.  Clearly bus journeys are 

cheaper for many people to make than journeys on the Tube, but nonetheless, often if people are valuing a 

certainty of time to get a particular journey made then people will use the Tube, in a way that they might not 

have done a few years ago because they were not sure the Tube train was ever going to turn up.  There is 

definitely some view around how that is playing out.  Again, this goes back to the point you made earlier on 

about the transport planning team and how having one single team looking at this holistically and joining up 

information on Tube stations and on buses about adjacent network availability is really important.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Turning to the central London bus consultation, what did you learn from that and how is 

this learning going to be used to shape future services? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  As you know, we had a huge number of responses, some 7,184 

including 134 responses from various stakeholders, including one, very helpfully, from this Committee.  We 

then looked at the 33 existing bus routes that were consulted on.  We have proposed changes in 29 of those 

routes.   

 

What was really interesting to me - though of course we value your feedback and other members of the 

Committee’s feedback - is that when I went around individual boroughs and talked to them, there was a real 

sense that this was a consultation done in a different way than we historically had done consultations.  I think 

we - perhaps unfairly, perhaps not totally unfairly - have often been accused in the past of having a 

consultation when we already know the final answer and we are almost just doing it as a matter of rote.  I have 

to tell you this consultation, boroughs are telling me and other stakeholders are telling me, felt quite different.   

 

The outcome in terms of the decisions we made - as you well know, to drop the proposal to remove the night 

service 271 to Whittington Hospital; the proposal to amend routes 11, 19 and 22 and therefore not have to 

introduce a new route at 311; to extend the route 388 through to London Bridge instead of cutting it back at 

Finsbury Circus; swapping stands at Elephant and Castle, which may sound really dull and boring but increases 

the ease of connectivity between the 171 and the 468 interchange option - I think these were genuine issues 

where we looked at the response and said, “Actually, there are some fair points here”.  We had made our own 

assessment of the analysis but self-evidently we did not get everything right.   

 

Page 47



  
 

 

It is really important to me that this consultation becomes the norm as to how we have these things going 

forward: we have that proper interactive dialogue, we assess the inputs being made and we also, even as the 

consultation is going on, continue to assess demand on individual routes so that we are not basing our 

assumptions as to what people will be able to do on historic demand levels when demand might be increasing 

on a route even in real time.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  I hope that is the case about consultation because I know particularly my constituency 

colleagues often have concerns that TfL consultation is just going through the motions.  I know if 

Assembly Member [Jennette] Arnold were here, she in particular has been very vocal about the quality or lack 

of. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  She has been very vocal with me personally about this topic! 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I do hope that that is true and that that will be the new way of doing things going forward.   

 

In terms of the quality of interchanges, because I think there is going to be a slight increase in the number of 

interchanges, inevitably, from the reorganisation of buses, what are you going to be doing to ensure that it is 

easy for people to interchange, thinking particularly, of course, of people with disabilities?  How are you 

reshaping bus stops and things like that to assist with that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Elephant and Castle is a real example of that but there are many 

others that we need to look at.  I think the introduction of the bus Hopper creates an urgency to ensure that 

we do this.  I want there to be as seamless an interchange as possible, particularly for people who have mobility 

requirements who need to have that interchange properly taken care of, but also to encourage everyone to use 

a bus.  If people find they have to walk through a wet street for 100 yards to interchange between two routes, 

that is clearly not the best way to do things.  We continue to have discussions on all of these issues.  Even with 

organisations such as High Speed 2, we have an ongoing dialogue about buses in a reconfigured 

Euston Station, how that would work.  Historically, we used to have bus stations at all major London termini.  

Those have gradually been eroded over the last few decades.  I am determined that we do not erode the last 

remaining bus interchange facilities at these key transport hubs.   

 

There is much more to do.  This is an ongoing piece of work.  I will say that Gareth Powell [Managing Director, 

Surface Transport], Claire Mann [Director of Bus Operations], Geoff Hobbs [Director of Public Service 

Transport Planning] and the team really have this at the centre of their minds and what they are thinking 

about.  For the first time in a generation, we have the passenger, the real passenger experience, at the heart of 

our strategic thinking, which is as it should be.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just finally, I think we as a Committee have called for wi-fi to be provided on buses.  What 

prospect is there of that happening in the near future? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is a great idea.  We have to look and see if there are some 

partners we could work with to do it.  It is absolutely a great idea.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  I think they are doing it in Yorkshire. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  In Oxford. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think it is a great idea. 

Page 48



  
 

 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Mike, earlier in your comments you mentioned a new bus route in 

Kidbrooke - I think it is 335 - which you are consulting upon.  Similarly, I understand there are some further 

bus reviews taking place for parts of Croydon, Brent and so on.  Can you tell us what further plans there are for 

bus services in outer London? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  You are quite right, 335 is the new proposed route between North 

Greenwich and new homes in Kidbrooke, which many of you will have been and seen.  It is an exciting new 

multipurpose development down there.  It is a really important route.  We are in consultation at the moment.  

That consultation finishes in the middle of next month and I am hoping, subject to that consultation, to be 

able to introduce this route as soon as the autumn of this year, which would be about two years in advance of 

when we had intended to introduce it.   

 

To pick on one of the other examples you raised, in Croydon we have seen a 9% increase in bus usage.  

Notwithstanding the overall numbers which Assembly Member Copley alluded to, there are parts of London 

where there have been huge increases and we need to therefore look and see how we reconfigure the network 

to properly support that growth and ensure not just that there is decent interchange but that there is decent 

bus service provision per se.  There are other routes around London, including the 93 in southwest London 

which is often very busy at school times, that need to be looked at in terms of enhancement.   

 

We are having a good, holistic look at this on a real-time, granular basis.  Of course the Oyster contactless data 

gives us some real information as to what is going on, a challenge sometimes because with free travel for 

schoolkids and others quite rightly having those concession fares we do not always get a full handle on the 

occupancy of buses, but it is really important we continue to focus on this, notwithstanding that we need to do 

something to prevent an ever-increasing, always increasing subsidy being paid to buses overall. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Good to hear that.  Mike, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy projections show that there is 

increasing demand for buses in outer London and it says that it will reshape the bus network to increase its 

focus on outer London.  Now, that focus is critical.  Like you said, there is need for a holistic approach.  The 

problem is, there is not one.   

 

I very much welcome what TfL did in terms of the review of central London bus services.  Is it not 

short-sighted, is it not piecemeal that what you are doing so far is looking at parts of areas, boroughs, like you 

indicated, given the enormous amount of pressure there is and major developments already taking place right 

across outer London boroughs?  Should you not be undertaking a root and branch review of all outer London 

bus services so that you can identify what is needed, what resources are needed, and therefore be prepared for 

major developments taking place?   

 

For example, I did rough and ready calculations on what is happening around, say, Harrow.  There are 1,500 or 

so new flats coming up around the town centre.  As it is, there are huge issues around congestion and so on 

and the interchange is already not fit for purpose, the bus station and so on.  Similarly, Brent with Wembley 

Central as well as Wembley Park.  Again, there is an unprecedented level of development and it will carry on.  

Should you not be really looking at a masterplan approach and have a bus review for outer London, which 

always remains so ignored?  We ignore it at our peril. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I absolutely agree with the premise of the points you made.  

Clearly I mentioned Croydon but I could easily have mentioned Harrow or Brent, as you did.  There is a further 

housing development proposal somewhere like Northwood, for example, where we are looking at how we can 

Page 49



  
 

 

ensure effective provision of links in to the station if carparking is removed as part of that development, which 

is the outline plan.   

 

Look, there is a huge amount of work to do.  We cannot do everything at once.  Yes, of course you want to 

look at the whole thing overall.  I do not think there is the ability to do that all at once so we have to look at 

those priority areas.  I am very happy to take away the specific issues you raised around Wembley Park, 

Wembley Central and Harrow town centre itself.  I know there is some work going on but if we are not 

communicating effectively on that then we need to do more as to what our thinking and what our plans are 

there.   

 

Some of it is about the capacity of existing routes and increased frequencies on existing routes.  Some of this is 

about marginal reconfigurations, although I have to tell you every minor reconfiguration, as you well know, is a 

massive issue from an individual constituent’s point of view if their bus stop is being moved.  The reason it 

takes quite a long time, quite understandably, is that people feel very personally attached to their local bus 

stop.  I understand that.  We just have to factor that into the need to get on with this as well.  It is a well-made 

point.  I wish we could move faster.  I think we have to do this sensibly and in a considered way, while 

recognising there is a huge strategic urgency. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  I just want to highlight very, very strongly the need for a strategic approach.  From what 

you are saying and what I have heard before as well, there is a lack of resources in terms of the planning 

capacity that you have.  If that is the case, I think it is important to follow the Mayor’s Strategy to build up 

that planning capacity so that outer London is looked at holistically now and not sometime in the future. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I take that point.  I would just say I do not think we have a lack of 

resource, it is just a lack of the ability to do everything at once, which is not so much a resource issue as just 

how you execute the change all at once.  Again, I am happy to go into the details of those particular areas you 

raise, as ever. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  To echo my outer-London comrade, Navin Shah [AM], who has set the scene very 

well, I am pleased that we are doing some work on outer London and I am pleased that Croydon’s review is at 

the top of the pile, as it probably should be.  I look forward to being sighted on the conclusions around that.   

 

It is a point well made by Navin about the need to what I call ‘rebalance’ or ‘reconfigure’ from inner to outer 

London.  I know it is not as simple as that, Mike.  It is something we have all been talking about for some 

considerable time and inevitably there are winners and losers within that.  Really, just to push on that point, 

you have talked about attracting more people to buses.  There is a massive demand in outer London, and 

increasing.  I still sense that there is not that urgency around it, Mike.  Could you give us some more 

satisfaction around that point? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I feel that it is very urgent, from my perspective.  There was a 

process of having to get through this first central London bus consultation in a way that, as I said to Assembly 

Member [Tom] Copley, was a different type of consultation than we have done before.  I think that is an 

important milestone, having got through that.  We have just literally concluded that, as you know.  Now we get 

on to the next stage.  We are going to be spending about an additional £40 million over the next five years in 

increasing and enhancing the bus services in outer London.  That is really important.  That is a really important 

message.  It is absolutely vital we get that money properly and wisely spent to the greatest effect in the types 

of areas that I was alluding to, Croydon of course being one, as I specifically called out.   

 

Page 50



  
 

 

I would be very keen if, as part of the work of this Committee going forward, there is a particular focus on how 

that will roll out over the next five years.  Just before the meeting, Chair, with apologies to you, the incoming 

Chair did express some interest in having a meeting with me in the next couple of weeks.  I am very happy to 

do that, as I have done with you and other Chairs in the past, to talk about some of the things you might want 

to work with us on and scrutinise us on in the next period of time.  I am very happy to have your involvement 

in that work. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I think the Committee, across all Members, will be supportive of that, particularly from 

the environmental point of view.  In outer London, far too many people have to use their cars --  

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Absolutely. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  -- because there is a complete lack of availability on public transport, and I would urge 

you to look at that.  One specific route, of course, you will be sighted on is Tollers Lane, which I will not miss 

this opportunity to mention.   

 

I would like to bring up the subject of the on-demand, responsive bus service.  I know that this is being trialled 

again in Sutton/Croydon, and that is to be welcomed, but the flip side of that is: is on-demand replacing 

actual delivery of extra scheduled services?  On-demand seems to be a relatively recent phenomenon in 

transport strategy.  Could you just give us a bit more detail around on-demand? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Certainly.  You are right to say we are delivering this 12-month 

research trial of a demand-responsive bus service in Sutton, as you say, to see - and this is very important - if it 

has the potential to complement the established bus network and therefore encourage more sustainable forms 

of travel and reduce the car dependency to which you refer.  The trial will launch next month with up to eight 

buses operating in the core of the day, from 6.30am to 9.30pm.  That is seven days a week.  Of course, the 

buses will be wheelchair-accessible and they will be the latest Euro 6 standards, consistent with our 

commitment to have the whole bus fleet Euro 6 or better by October 2020.   

 

I would just say I look at this as being demand-responsive on the one hand, but also a demand-generative trial.  

I want this to be generating bus demand on the basis that if this is successful then we could be looking at 

exploring what you would want to do to regularise this service going forward.  It is a way of testing the market, 

exploring what people might be able to do and encouraging people to use a bus service they might not have 

done before.  It is not the only answer but it is a very important way, I think, of stimulating some demand and 

stimulating some new thinking.   

 

There are many people in London, particularly in outer London, as you alluded to, who would not yet dream of 

using buses.  I want to change that.  I want people on buses.  Buses are the workhorse of London’s transport 

system.  They carry more people every day than the Underground network by a significant amount and we 

need to ensure people realise what a great way they are to get around, not just to get to work, not just to get 

to the nearest Tube or rail station but also to go about your leisure activity around outer London boroughs and 

elsewhere.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I think you are right.  There is a distinct lack of the services in outer London but it is 

also perhaps changing people’s views of using buses when they will take a conscious decision to use a car 

rather a bus even if there is indeed a service.  We need to get away from that.  Thank you very much, Chair. 

 

Page 51



  
 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I am afraid I am going to continue with the same point, if I may.  I had an 

understanding that TfL were going to be going borough by borough and doing some reviews.  Is that still the 

case or not the case? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes and no, if I can say.  The reason I say that is because clearly 

the bus network and indeed town centres do not really define themselves by borough boundaries, as you 

know.  There are town centres within boroughs that might not be the nearest one to where a large amount of 

people in the borough live and want to go.  They might be visited by people from neighbouring boroughs, of 

course - that is the nature of these things - and indeed people from outside London, which is the other thing 

we have to consider in all of this as well.  We are certainly looking at it from geographical areas and insofar as 

that aligns with boroughs or several boroughs then that will be the approach.  I do not want to be categoric 

one way or the other because it depends on the specific local situation.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  OK. There will be an ongoing programme of looking at those geographical areas? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There will, yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can you assure me that that process will be transparent, people will know when it is 

coming up and there will be some consultation on it? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Absolutely.  I can categorically assure you of that. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  OK.  Lovely.  The other thing is that you announced about 18 months ago now 

some priority routes to hospitals. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I have been arguing for a while.  It was on your top priority routes to the north and 

N21 postcodes into Enfield Town, and you have assured me in the past that you were working on delivering 

that, but I have not had any good news yet on that.  I am wondering where those priority routes are. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  They are still being processed through.  I apologise that has taken 

a bit longer and that we have not kept you informed and in the loop.  I very much regret that.  I will get you a 

note afterwards to tell you exactly where we are on those routes because you are quite right, you have 

consistently raised this with me.  We owe you regular updates and we have not been doing that.  I apologise. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  OK.  Then, when you look at outer London, will you not just look at town centres 

but also at hospital routes as well? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We will.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I have my Over 50s Forum in Enfield arguing about having a route diverted to 

Chase Farm Hospital given that some of the services have now been transferred there. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is hugely important for two reasons.  One is obviously some of 

the huge parking charges that are in hospitals for those who do actually have cars.  Although we do not want 

people to drive to hospitals anyway, parking charges are huge and it is much better if people can get buses 

there.  It is also important for people who work at hospitals and do those vital jobs in supporting the fantastic 

Page 52



  
 

 

National Health Service (NHS).  On both counts, it is hugely important to me.  It is very much in the centre of 

my mind and I will make sure you are kept up to date with that overall strategic approach.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That is very helpful.  I did have a meeting with TfL and the Deputy Mayor for 

Transport about travelling from Oakwood station into Chase Farm and one of the alternatives was Gordon Hill 

Station nearby, but if you know it, it has no lift and has, I would probably say, about 30-odd steps. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  That is no good. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  It is not an alternative. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  It is no good, no.  We have to make sure this is a coherent, 

integrated alternative, absolutely.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.  If you could give us some indication as to when you are going to be 

moving into those geographical areas, that would be very helpful to be able to plan our work as well. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.  We will do that, Chair, through you, if I may. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  In answer to what I think was Assembly Member [Steve] O’Connell’s question, you said the 

bus fleet will all be Euro 6 by what date? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  October 2020. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Right.  This new on-demand bus service, they are all Vito vans, are they not?  Is that 

correct? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  They will all be Euro 6 compliant.  Was that the question?  Sorry, 

Keith, I did not quite hear you. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I believe they are Vitos.  I believe they are Euro 6 Mercedes-Benz Vitos. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, so I believe. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  The on-demand buses are Euro 6 Mercedes-Benz Vitos.  The bus fleet, you say, will 

be at least Euro 6 by 2020.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Why can cab drivers not licence Euro 6 vehicles, then? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There is a difference, of course, between the manufacturing 

specifications and the other factors that prevail between the taxi trade and buses. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It does not. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  There is a difference. 

 

Page 53



  
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  The taxi trade used to, until recently, use Vito Euro 6, which is virtually the same vehicle as 

the on-demand buses. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  OK.  I can get back to you on the detail of that.  I hear the point.  

I know you are asking me the same question you asked me earlier. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, exactly. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I have committed to coming back to you -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is not the same question, it is a very different question.  One was about someone’s 

livelihood, which is a different issue about you reducing it from 15 to 12 years, but now you are telling us that 

your bus fleet is going to be Euro 6, the on-demand buses, I believe, are Vitos, but you are denying those 

vehicles to the cab trade.  What do you have against the cab trade? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I do not have anything against the cab trade.  I have always been 

on record as saying they play a tremendous and very important role in getting people around the capital, 

particularly in terms of the accessibility of their vehicles.  It is very important to me.  I would just say we are 

working towards the greenest bus fleet of any country in the world, any city in the world outside of China, 

interestingly enough -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Given it is 12.30pm and we still have one more area to go, let us pick 

that up in what you are going to submit to me afterwards in writing and at this briefing because I think it is an 

important point, Keith -- 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I am not trying to treat it -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I will just finish.  Mike, with all due respect, you are crucifying the cab trade!  You are 

crucifying them in every direction.  You crucify them on the roads because you make it impossible for them to 

ply their trade because of the narrowing of the roads or restricting the roads they can use, then you are also 

making them give in their old vehicles sooner, and then you are denying them the opportunity to use Euro 6 

vehicles when you are letting everybody else, the bus companies, the on-demand bus companies -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  This point has been made several times.  We are going to move on, 

Assembly Member.  You have made your point very clearly and Mike has heard that.   

 

I wanted to ask about outer London, Richmond.  Given that you have consulted on that borough but now 

Hammersmith Bridge is closed, which is affecting a number of bus routes, will you be putting on hold any plans 

there? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, we will, and we are reviewing obviously the whole 

implications of the issue of Hammersmith Bridge.  There was, incidentally, just on that, a very constructive 

meeting with Hammersmith and Fulham council last week on how we might take the issue forward.  I know 

also there was a meeting with representatives from Richmond just in the last couple of days, where again we 

are very mindful of those issues.  I also met with Wandsworth Borough because again there are some knock-on 

effects there.  I am very conscious of the knock-on effects and clearly we will not be doing anything rash based 

on previous plans now that Hammersmith Bridge is in the situation it finds itself.   

 

Page 54



  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Good.  That bridge I have been asking questions about for several 

years, getting that funding. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  True, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We had wanted to pick up about express and orbital bus routes, which 

is something we have particularly pushed as a Committee.  Is that something on which you could come back to 

us in writing, where you are progressing that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Of course I will.  I am happy to do that, Chair, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us just move quickly on to our last area, which is 

freight.  Assembly Member Eshalomi is going to pick that up. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Thanks.  We covered this at our Committee in February, Mike, and 

you may have seen the letter than we then sent to the Mayor with a number of recommendations.   

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  One of the key things was that there is not a dedicated freight 

team at TfL.  Bearing that in mind, do you feel that TfL has the right leadership and structure in place to 

deliver a Freight and Servicing Action Plan? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Yes, I do.  Alex Williams, who is my Director of City Planning, 

takes primacy in terms of leading on my executive table on freight issues and we have made significant 

progress, as I said earlier on, on some very significant areas of the Freight and Servicing Action Plan.   

 

A recent success is how teams across TfL have worked together with the freight industry in securing tighter 

DVS, which I alluded to earlier on, in the European Parliament’s General Safety Regulation.  By working with 

the trade collaboratively, coherently and from an early stage, we have seen the European Union (EU) adopt 

similar DVS.  This has been achieved by strong working with the trade.  The Road Haulage Association and the 

Freight Transport Association were particularly positive in the feedback on our new way of working with regard 

to this. 

 

Of course this is an area we keep under review but I think we are, in many ways, delivering better as a result of 

having a more matrixed approach to the way we manage freight within the organisation.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is good to hear.  Even though that freight team has been 

embedded across the organisation, you will not be going back to having a dedicated team? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  No, it is not my plan.  What I am trying to avoid is, where people 

have additional capacity to do other feats of work, that they are simply defined as working exclusively on 

freight matters.  Freight is hugely important to the way the city operates and works yet some of the skills 

possessed by people who have had primacy for dealing with freight in the past are also relevant for road 

capacity issues more generally across the network. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  One of the things that we also looked at was the relationship 

with the boroughs in terms of having a consistent approach around managing freight in the capital.  I was out 

Page 55



  
 

 

recently with some of my councillors in Southwark around Underhill Road and Melford Road and there are big 

issues around some of those light goods vehicles going through residential roads.  There are really, really big 

issues for a number of residents there.  In essence, TfL do need to be engaging with the Councils in how you 

manage that consistent approach around transporting that freight across the capital.  Do you have anything 

else to add to that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  I think it is a very good point.  We already work closely with 

boroughs, with local Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) and businesses.  We have held three borough 

workshops as part of the Action Plan development, for example, we have worked with the BIDs to introduce 

sustainable delivery methods and we have developed efficient deliveries toolkits to help spread good practice 

among businesses so that we try to replicate this.  Clearly, boroughs are all in a slightly different stage of 

evolution on their thinking here but it is an area that I do discuss regularly in my meetings with boroughs.  As 

we heard about earlier on, I am always happy to take any specific feedback on areas of good practice from 

Committee Members. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just finally on the London Lorry Control Scheme (LLCS), again 

going back to the work with boroughs in terms of that flexibility that freight deliveries have, especially outside 

of peak hours, which again we want to see so that it is not disrupting those residential roads, how will TfL be 

working with London Councils to update that? 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  We are working closely with London Councils and the boroughs to 

take forward the priority recommendations of London Councils’ 2017 review of the LLCS.  We have also 

recently released data on this to help freight and servicing operators and drivers more easily plan routes that 

comply with the scheme, which is to everyone’s benefit, of course. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.  Nothing further from me, Chair. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That brings us the section to a close.  Thank you very much indeed, 

Mike, for coming along today and for your answers to our questions, and also taking away a long list of actions 

from us, both information and some site visits.  Thank you very much indeed for that. 

 

Mike Brown MVO (Commissioner, TfL):  Thank you. 

 

Page 56



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 15 May 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 14 March 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 
Commissioner of Transport for London 

During the course of the discussion, the Commissioner 

agreed to the following actions: 

 To provide a written response to the 

recommendations from the Committee’s report, 

Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track;  

 To send the Committee a sample of the daily update 

emails from the Commissioner to the Mayor; 

 To arrange a visit with Florence Eshalomi AM to the 

Tulse Hill Gyratory;  

 To write on the detail behind recent changes to the 

TfL scorecards, to include the measures around 

measuring trip distances and road traffic volumes; 

 To work with the Committee to arrange a visit to see 

TfL’s bus safety training; 

 To provide more detail on TfL’s work regarding 

metroisation of rail services into Moorgate station; 

 

In progress 

 

Commissioner, 

Transport for 

London (TfL) 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



        

 To provide detail of any discussions or work 

undertaken with the Department for Transport on 

establishing a national database of taxi and public 

hire vehicle drivers; 

 To share the analysis undertaken by TfL around the 

decision to reduce the working life of London taxi 

cabs, to include equalities assessments, numbers of 

taxis affected, compensation and air quality impacts; 

 To arrange a meeting with Members to discuss 

issues relating to the taxi and private hire vehicle 

raised at the meeting; 

 To provide regular updates to Members on progress 

being made in reviewing bus routes in outer London, 

including those around hospitals; 

 To write on the rationale behind allowing the 

responsive bus trial in Sutton to use Euro 6 ‘Vito’ 

vehicles; and 

 To provide detail on work being undertaken on 

express and orbital bus routes, following a 

recommendation by the Committee. 

 

7. Transport Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for the Committee’s first investigation of the 

2019/20 Assembly year, bus and tram safety. 

 

 

At the time of this 

agenda going to print, 

in progress. 

 

Chair 

 

Page 58



        

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 14 March 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. Elizabeth Line  

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the Committee’s work on Crossrail. 

 

 

Complete.  See 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

N/A 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 December 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

The Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach 

The Committee requested the following information in 

writing: 

 A copy of the report produced by TfL on the 

floating bus stops trial;  

 Information on the Healthy Streets Portfolio 

Board, including copies of meeting notes, terms 

of reference and ways of working; 

 Detail setting out the scope and arrangements 

for the grant scheme TfL intend to launch in 

2019 for community projects supporting cycling 

and walking; and 

 A copy of the report that will sit alongside the 

online strategic walking tool being made 

available to London Boroughs once it has been 

prepared in early 2019. 

 

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests on 

13 December 2018. 

 

 

 

 

Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 November 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Services 

James Farrar, United Private Hire Drivers (UPHD), 

agreed to provide the following information: 

 A copy of the contract that Daimler provides to 

private hire vehicle drivers using ViaVan; 

 A copy of the letter from the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) stating that Transport for London 

(TfL) had asked the MPS not to engage with the 

UPHD on safeguarding issues; 

 The number of members of the UPHD; and 

 A paper from the Licensed Private Hire Car 

Association from 2002 in which they stated that 

they did not support the need for driver training. 

 

Gareth Powell, Managing Director of Surface Transport, 

Transport for London (TfL); and Helen Chapman, 

Director of Licensing, Regulation and Charging, TfL, 

undertook to: 

 Share proposals to improve the working conditions 

of drivers working in the taxi and private hire 

services industry, which were outside of the 

regulatory framework; 

 Consider the suggestion to require operators of 

private hire services apps to make the app blank 

when the vehicle was moving, as part of the 

operating licences; 

 Provide details of the pass rate for the English test 

for private hire vehicle drivers, together with the 

pass rate for the four modules that comprised the 

test; 

 Provide an update on whether, as part of the review 

of the English test, it would be possible for a driver 

who had passed some modules but not all could be 

exempt from having to re-sit the modules which he 

or she had already passed; 

 Confirmation on when the proposals arising from 

TfL’s consultation on whether the congestion charge 

exemption for private hire vehicles should be 

removed would be available; 

 Details of the pricing model for the new black taxi 

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests 

29 November 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In progress. 

 

James Farrar, 

UPHD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gareth Powell, 

Managing 

Director of 

Surface 

Transport, 

Transport for 

London (TfL); 

and 

Helen Chapman, 

Director of 

Licensing, 

Regulation and 

Charging, TfL. 

 

Page 60



        

being manufactured by the alternative provider; 

 Confirmation of the number of taxi drivers using the 

delicensing scheme; 

 Provide information on the requirement to give fair 

estimates of the cost of journeys; 

 Details about the number of Compliance Officers 

who had received training in the additional powers 

to stop and direct traffic, together the with the 

number of drivers they had taken off the road; 

 Details about the number of drivers TfL compliance 

officers had stopped but had not had to enforce 

against because the driver was licenced by another 

licencing authority; 

 Share TfL’s evidence to the Westminster Magistrates 

Court regarding Uber; 

 Provide the figure for the backlog of licence renewal 

applications 

 Provide a link to the published minutes of meetings 

between TfL and the taxi and private hire vehicle 

trade organisations; and 

 Confirm the number of the times the Transport 

Commissioner had met with the taxi and private hire 

vehicle trade organisations. 

 

   

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 9 October 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Services 

The Chair invited guests to provide the Committee with 

their responses to Transport for London’s consultation 

on proposed changes to the congestion charge.  

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests on    

16 October 2018. 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Page 61



        

 Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

7. London TravelWatch Performance Report and 

Recruitment 

The Chief Executive of London TravelWatch (LTW) 

agreed to provide the Committee with further details of 

the timeline agreed with TfL for implementing LTW’s 

recommendations on ticket offices across TfL. 

 

 

 

In progress. Officers 

requested an update 

on 29 April 2019. 

 

 

 

London 

TravelWatch 

 

 

 
 
3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

None 

 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5525 

E-mail:   david.pealing@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 62

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 15 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegations granted to the Chair by the 

Transport Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members. 

 
  

3. Background   
 

3.1 At the Transport Committee’s March 2019 meeting, it agreed: 

 

 “That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the Committee’s work on Crossrail.” 

 
 
4. Issues for Consideration 

  

4.1 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the Committee’s report 

Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track which was published on 23 April 2019.  A copy of that 

report is attached for Members at Appendix 1.  It is also available on the Assembly’s webpage1. 

 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crossrail-delay-report 
 

Page 63

Agenda Item 8

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crossrail-delay-report
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crossrail-delay-report


        

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Derailed: Getting Crossrail back on track 

 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority Form 1066 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 64

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

Derailed:  
Getting Crossrail back on 
track 

Transport Committee 
April 2019 

Photo Credit: Hugh Llewelyn 

Appendix 1

Page 65



London Assembly | Transport Committee 

Holding the Mayor to 
account and investigating 
issues that matter to 
Londoners 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 66



London Assembly | Transport Committee 

Transport Committee Members 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Transport Committee holds the Mayor and Transport for London to 
account for their work delivering the capital’s transport network. The 
committee examines all aspects of the transport network and presses for 
improvements on behalf of Londoners.   

 
Contact 
Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager 
TransportCommittee@london.gov.uk 
0207 983 4000 

 

Funmi Olutoye, External Communications Officer  
Funmi.Olutoye@london.gov.uk 
0207 084 2713 

 
Follow us: 

@LondonAssembly  #AssemblyTransport 

facebook.com/london.assembly 

Caroline Pidgeon 
MBE AM (Chair) 
Liberal Democrat 

Florence Eshalomi 
AM (Deputy Chair) 
Labour 

Shaun Bailey AM 
Conservative 

Tom Copley AM 
Labour 

David Kurten AM 
Brexit Alliance Group 

Steve O’Connell AM 
Conservative 

Keith Prince AM 
Conservative 

Caroline Russell AM 
Green 

Navin Shah AM 
Labour 

Joanne McCartney 
AM 
Labour 

Page 67

https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.facebook.com/london.assembly


London Assembly | Transport Committee     3 
 

Contents 
 
Summary ............................................................................ 5 

Recommendations ............................................................. 6 

1. Background ................................................................ 8 

2. Governance and assessment of risk ......................... 14 

3. Leadership and corporate culture ............................ 21 

4. Transparency and Communication of Risk ............... 27 

5. Project Design .......................................................... 36 

Our approach ................................................................... 40 

References ....................................................................... 42 

Other formats and languages………………………………………..46 

  

Page 68



London Assembly | Transport Committee     4 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  
Chair of the Transport Committee 
 
 

The new Elizabeth Line is expected to be a welcome new 
addition to the transport system in London, promising 
passengers faster and more pleasant journeys.  

That promise is now under threat. The announcement last 
August that the project is delayed is yet another example of 

a large catalogue of failed infrastructure projects – projects that are over time 
and over budget. 

In light of it all, it is frustrating that top Crossrail executives have not taken 
responsibility for their mismanagement of the project in its later stages. This 
despite the fact that they were taking home eye-watering salaries and 
bonuses to deliver the project.  

It is also difficult to accept why the independent reviewer, Jacobs, was 
ignored.  Jacobs was paid to advise Transport for London (TfL) and the 
Department for Transport (DfT), and help them scrutinise progress on the 
project. However, the risks of delay it raised were not sufficiently acted upon. 
Instead, the positive messaging from the Crossrail Executive was listened to.  

The evidence we have seen makes it clear that some officers at Crossrail and 
TfL attempted to warn about the risks to opening on time.  It is unacceptable 
that these risks were being downplayed by TfL Commissioner, Mike Brown.  
The Mayor and the TfL Board have to have confidence in the Commissioner 
and his Executive team if they are to successfully deliver transport projects in 
the capital. 

Once open, the Elizabeth Line will transform east west travel in London, 
contribute to reducing congestion and journey times, increase capacity on the 
network and support the economy. However, for now there are significant 
lessons to be learned.  Our report provides clear advice to the Mayor and TfL 
so that they make sure Crossrail and future infrastructure projects have the 
right skills, the openness and transparency, and the appropriate systems of 
governance and accountability, to avoid going off track. 

 

  

Page 69



London Assembly | Transport Committee     5 
 

Summary 
Crossrail is a major programme to provide new rail services for London and 
the south east, running from Reading and Heathrow in the west, through 
42km of new tunnels under central London, to Shenfield and Abbey Wood in 
the east. Once open, Crossrail will be known as the Elizabeth Line.  

It was announced in August 2018 that the central section of the line would be 
delayed and would not open in December 2018 as originally planned. This 
announcement came after another announcement in July 2018 of Crossrail 
requiring more funding to complete the project. The effect of these delays 
and increased costs will not only be felt by passengers and businesses, but by 
the city’s overall economy.  

Since the announcement of the delay, the London Assembly has been at the 
forefront of public scrutiny on Crossrail. The Assembly’s Transport Committee 
has conducted an in-depth examination of the circumstances behind the 
programme’s failure and implicatons of its delay and cost increase. We have 
dedicated five public meetings to the investigation, and summonsed a large 
number of documents from the Mayor’s Office, Transport for London and 
Crossrail. This report brings together an extensive body of evidence, and 
makes strong recommendations to ensure future projects as large, complex 
and meaningful as Crossrail do not go off track.  

  

Page 70



London Assembly | Transport Committee     6 
 

Recommendations 

Governance and risk  

Recommendation 1 – The governance model 
Sponsors should ensure governance systems are robust and remain fit-
for-purpose throughout the lifetime of a project. Governance systems 
must involve key players from the start, and embed adequate financial 
and accountability processes to protect the public purse right from the 
outset. Reviews of governance systems should take place periodically, 
in particular when there is a clear shift in the nature of the project (e.g. 
from construction to fit-out, to operation). 

Recommendation 2 – Skills profile in the project 
Sponsors should ensure Crossrail has the right skillset now for 
successful programme completion. For future projects, Sponsors should 
review the skills needed throughout the lifetime of the project, to 
ensure the right technical capacity is present at each stage. 

Recommendation 3 – The role of independent reviewers  
The role of independent reviewers on Crossrail and other infrastructure 
projects needs to be clearly and fully built into the governance 
structure. Sponsors should strengthen the role of independent 
reviewers by clearly outlining from the outset the actions to be taken in 
response to their recommendations. This will not only provide 
assurance of deliverability, but will also protect the public purse. 

Leadership and corporate culture  

Recommendation 4 – Corporate culture  
Crossrail and future infrastructure projects should have a system of 
governance and accountability that encourages a culture of transparency 
and openness, and offers mechanisms for these to be sustained at all 
levels of the organisation. This culture should balance optimism, to keep 
the project and staff motivated, against reliable communication of risk, 
productivity and project performance. 

Recommendation 5 – Role of Sponsors  
Sponsors need to keep an overly optimistic corporate culture in check 
by bolstering the role of independent reviewers, and encouraging 
consistent and strong scrutiny, informed by independent advice. 

Page 71



London Assembly | Transport Committee     7 
 

Recommendation 6 – Chief Executive remuneration  
The remuneration packages for chief executives in large infrastructure 
projects should be benchmarked against those for other projects. 
Additionally, the process for setting and assessing performance bonuses 
should be revisited periodically, to ensure the remuneration of 
programme chief executives adequately reflects progress towards the 
successful delivery of a publicly-funded project. 

Transparency and communication of risk 

Recommendation 7 – Access to board meetings  
Decision-making on major projects should occur in formal meetings. 
These meetings should be comprehensively minuted and recorded. 
Further, barring commercially-sensitive business, these meetings (e.g. 
Crossrail Board and Sponsor Board) should be public, in particular given 
that funding is coming from the public purse. 

Recommendation 8 – The Mayor as Chair of TfL  
The Mayor and TfL Board must strengthen control over TfL, and 
implement the necessary processes to allow them to remain fully 
informed and on top of progress on the projects they are ultimately 
accountable for. 

Recommendation 9 – The Commissioner’s role  
Given the strong evidence presented in this report, we recommend that 
the Commissioner reflects on whether he is fit to fulfill his role in TfL. 

Project design 

Recommendation 10 – Complex infrastructure 
Future infrastructure projects should strive to keep designs simple, 
incorporating standard rather than bespoke features, in order to reduce 
risks to budget and timelines, and protect the public purse against 
overspend. 

Recommendation 11 – Complementary works 
Future infrastructure projects should make plans to deliver 
complementary works–including step-free access–at the outset. 

  

Page 72



London Assembly | Transport Committee     8 
 

1. Background  

Key facts 
▪ Crossrail is a major programme to provide new rail services for London and 

the south east, running from Reading and Heathrow in the west, through 
central London, to Shenfield and Abbey Wood in the east. Once open, 
Crossrail will be known as the Elizabeth Line. 

▪ The project has faced financial challenges. Prior to 2010, it had a budget of 
£15.9 billion, but this was reduced by £1.1 billion in the Government’s 2010 
Spending Review. On 24 July 2018 it was announced that the budget was 
being increased by £590 million, to £15.4 billion. This included funding for 
Crossrail Limited and Network Rail.  

▪ On 10 December 2018, it was announced that there would be a new increase 
in Crossrail’s budget, of up to £2.15 billion, in response to increasing costs. 
This included funding for Crossrail Limited only. This has brought the total 
funding envelope to £17.6 billion. This funding envelope does not include the 
cost of trains and depots, amounting to £1.1 billion. 

▪ Crossrail has also faced major delays. On 31 August 2018, Crossrail announced 
its central section would not open until Autumn 2019, when the opening was 
originally planned for December 2018.  

▪ In early 2019, Crossrail admitted it could not commit to an opening date and 
more work needed to be done to understand what was left on the project. 

▪ Crossrail Limited is expected to announce a revised schedule and estimate of 
the programme’s cost in late April 2019. 

Page 73



London Assembly | Transport Committee     9 
 

What is Crossrail? 

1.1 Crossrail is a complex programme to provide new rail services for London and 
the south east, running from Reading and Heathrow in the west, through 
42km of new tunnels under central London, to Shenfield and Abbey Wood in 
the east. When complete, the railway will be around 118km long and will 
become part of Transport for London’s (TfL) rail and underground network. 
Once open, Crossrail will be known as the Elizabeth Line.1 

1.2 New trains will carry an estimated 200 million passengers a year. The new 
service will reduce journey times, increase the capital’s rail capacity by ten per 
cent and bring an extra 1.5 million people to within 45 minutes of central 
London.2 

1.3 The project will also increase accessibility to transport, through the creation of 
ten new stations with step-free access, and improvement works of 31 stations 
along the east and west sections.3 

1.4 Crossrail is also expected to boost the economy by an estimated £42 billion. 
Crossrail’s business case update in 2011 estimated that Crossrail would create 
up to 14,000 construction jobs and 1,000 jobs for the operation and 
maintenance of the line.4 

1.5 The Department for Transport (DfT) and TfL are joint sponsors and funders of 
Crossrail. Crossrail Limited–a wholly owned subsidiary of TfL–is responsible for 
delivering the scheme. This includes everything from building the line and 
stations, to integrating the signalling systems and providing an operational 
railway. Once opened, the service will be run by the operator MTR Crossrail, 
whose contract is managed by TfL. 

Figure 1: Crossrail route map 

Page 74



London Assembly | Transport Committee     10 
 

What are the issues?  

1.6 On 24 July 2018 it was announced that the 
budget was being increased by £590 
million, to £15.4 billion. This included 
funding for Crossrail Limited and Network 
Rail. It was announced on 10 December 
2018 that there would be a new increase 
in Crossrail’s budget, of up to £2.15 billion. 
This included funding for Crossrail Limited 
only, and no additional funding for 
Network Rail works.5 

1.7 This new funding has brought the total 
envelope to £17.6 billion. This new 
funding package does not include trains 
and depots, procured at a cost of £1.1 
billion.6 

1.8 TfL’s latest business plan states that 
revenues are forecast to be £600 million 
lower than expected as a result of the 
delays.7 The current cost of Crossrail is £30 
million per week in contractor and supply 
chain resources.8 

1.9 On 31 August 2018, Crossrail announced 
its central section would not open until 
Autumn 2019. Crossrail had originally 
planned for the central section of the 
railway to open in December 2018, while 
the full east-west service was to open in 
December 2019. In early 2019, however, 
Crossrail admitted it could not commit to 
an opening date and more work needed to 
be done to understand what was left on 
the project.9 

How much will it cost? 

1.10 The current estimated cost of the project 
is £18.7 billion. Table 1 outlines the 
changes in funding available since the 
start of the project. 

1.11 Prior to 2010, the project had a budget of 
£15.9 billion, but this was reduced by £1.1 
billion in the Government’s 2010 Spending 
Review.10  

Page 75



London Assembly | Transport Committee     11 
 

1.12 The total budget for Crossrail following the review was £14.8 billion, with 
funding provided by central government, TfL, London residents and 
businesses. Crossrail’s rolling stock has been procured separately from 
Bombardier by TfL at a cost of around £1.1 billion. No additional funding is 
needed to cover trains and depots as these were arranged for a fixed price.11 

1.13 Although more funding was committed to the project in 2018, Chief Executive 
of Crossrail, Mark Wild, has suggested that the funding required to complete 
the scheme is still under review,12 and highlighted cost increases: 

1.14 Crossrail Limited is expected to announce a revised estimate of the 
programme’s cost in late April. 

Table 1: Crossrail's funding explained 

Date Funding Details 
Initial funding agreed £15.9 billion Funding to cover all infrastructure 

elements of the project, including 
Network Rail improvements to the 
existing network.  

Funding following 
2010 Spending 
Review  

£14.8 billion Sponsors reduced funding by £1.1 
billion due to savings and revised 
cost estimates. 

Additional funding 
committed in July 
2018 

£590 million 
 
Total: £15.4 billion 

Additional funding to reflect cost 
pressures: 
£300 million for Crossrail Limited, 
with DfT and TfL contributing £150 
million each; 
£290 million provided by DfT for 
Network Rail works. 

Additional funding 
committed in 
December 2018 

£2.15 billion 
 
Total: £17.6 billion 

Additional funding for Crossrail 
Limited following delays and cost 
increase: 
£1.3 billion loan from DfT to GLA;  
£750 million contingency DfT loan 
facility;  
£100 million GLA cash contribution. 

Other funding 
required/project costs  

£1.1 billion 
 
 

Procurement cost of trains and 
depots.  

Total project cost (as 
of April 2019) 

£18.7 billion This includes all additional funding 
committed to the project since the 
2010 Spending Review. 

 

“Our weekly cost spend has reduced, however, the Earliest Opening Programme 
will need to be examined for cost and commercial impact. As you would expect 
the staff associated costs previously budgeted has increased significantly as the 
project is re-resourced and strengthened.” 

Mark Wild, Crossrail Chief Executive, 4 April 2019 

Page 76



London Assembly | Transport Committee     12 
 

When will it open?  

1.15 DfT and TfL decided to open the railway in sections, in order to reduce risks 
associated with opening the entire line at once. Table 2 shows the planned 
versus forecast delivery of each section of Crossrail, based on analysis from 
the National Audit Office (NAO).13 

1.16 At the TfL Board on 27 March 2019, Chief Executive Mark Wild confirmed he 
would be able to announce a plan for the central opening at the end of April 
2019. Crossrail Chairman, Tony Meggs, stressed that Crossrail would offer a 
window rather than a specific date for opening.14 This window is expected to 
close with time as Crossrail gets more data on progress to achieve project 
completion. 

Table 2: Staged opening and current status 

Stage Description Target 
Date 

Forecast Delivery 

1 Liverpool Street (main 
line) to Shenfield 

May 2017 Delivered in June 2017 

2 Heathrow to 
Paddington (main line) 

May 2018 Stage 2 opening partially achieved 
in May 2018. There are plans to 
introduce some Crossrail services 
between the existing Paddington 
station and Reading from 
December 2019 

3 Paddington (Crossrail) 
to Abbey Wood  

December 
2018 

Unknown 

4 Paddington (Crossrail) 
to Shenfield  

May 2019 Unknown – Dependent on Stage 3 

5 Full east-west service  December 
2019 

Unknown – Dependent on Stage 3  

  

Page 77



London Assembly | Transport Committee     13 
 

What has the impact of the delay been? 
1.17 The knock-on effects of this delay are being felt by many businesses in London 

and passengers of other transport services. Property values along the 
Elizabeth Line route have increased, with one estimate that house prices have 
increased by 3.3 per cent above the underlying growth rate.15 

1.18 Many businesses have also contributed directly to the cost of the Elizabeth 
Line, by paying the Crossrail Business Rate Supplement (BRS). Originally the 
contributions of the levy to Crossrail were meant to end in 2033-34, but the 
Mayor has agreed to extend these contributions until 2036-37, to support the 
Greater London Authority (GLA)’s additional funding commitment to 
Crossrail.16 

1.19 The Elizabeth Line will interchange with other National Rail services and the 
London Underground at numerous points along the route. The absence of the 
Elizabeth Line is therefore likely to exacerbate existing pressures on the 
capacity of other services, such as the Central Line, which Crossrail was meant 
to relieve. 

1.20 If it is approved, Crossrail 2 will also be affected by the delays as increased 
funding is required to complete Crossrail. Crossrail 2 is a proposed new 
railway line linking south-west and north-east London. The Mayor and TfL 
have developed plans for the line, with anticipated costs of around £30 
billion.17 However, part of the funds from Crossrail 2, including those collected 
from the BRS, will be diverted to cover the increased cost of completing 
Crossrail. Details have yet to be provided on the total amount of funds that 
will be passed over onto Crossrail.18 

Case Study: The real impact of the delays 

“We bought a house in Abbey Wood in 2017 in anticipation of the soon-to-arrive 
Crossrail. I work in Euston full time so the journey time was very long at 
approximately 1hr 20mins door-to-desk each way…The supposed arrival of Crossrail 
made it bearable as it would cut the journey time by around 50 mins, especially as I 
became pregnant and found the journey absolutely exhausting. 

Almost two years later and with the arrival of a child, my maternity leave is almost 
complete. I now have to try and navigate getting back to work with finding childcare 
that opens early enough and closes late enough for me to be able to drop my child 
off and still make it to work and back on time. This is highly stressful, not to mention 
expensive. It puts me in a position that makes it very difficult to be able to perform 
my job well and be a good mother. This is not a choice I should have to make!” 

Submission from Resident of Abbey Wood, received on 3 April 2019 

  
Page 78



London Assembly | Transport Committee     14 
 

2. Governance and 
assessment of risk  

Key findings 

▪ The governance structure set up for Crossrail was innovative and 
allowed for various successes in the initial phases of the project. 
However, it was not fit-for-purpose to deliver such a complex 
infrastructure project, especially in its more mature stages. 

▪ The Crossrail executive did not have the skills required at the later 
stages of the programme to adequately assess and understand risk 
as the project moved from construction to operations.   

▪ The independent reviewer (Jacobs) reported significant risks to the 
December 2018 opening as early as January 2018. However, 
Sponsors did not sufficiently act upon these reports of risk. Instead, 
they accepted Crossrail’s assurances that no threat existed to the 
planned opening of the central section.  

Page 79



London Assembly | Transport Committee     15 
 

2.1 Crossrail Limited is a company wholly-owned by TfL, in charge of managing 
and delivering the Crossrail programme. The company was set up to operate 
at arm’s-length from government. This arrangement was intended to give 
autonomy to the project delivery team, protect Crossrail from political 
interference from the Sponsors, and allow the company to attract “the best 
and the brightest” from around the world. It was a promising governance 
model that aimed to do away with many of the shortcomings of entirely 
public service-run projects.19 

2.2 In this governance model, Crossrail’s main governing body is an independent 
Board. The Sponsors have oversight of the programme through non-executive 
members appointed to Crossrail’s Board, and through Sponsor Board 
meetings where they discuss progress with the Crossrail executive. Other 
partners, such as Network Rail, have been until recently absent in the 
interface between the Sponsors and Crossrail, despite being key partners in 
the delivery of the line.20 

2.3 In 2009, the Sponsors contracted an independent auditor, known as the 
Project Representative team, Jacobs.21 The Project Representative team is 
made up of engineers and project management specialists, who are 
embedded in Crossrail Limited. Their role is to provide advice and regular 
reporting on the programme to Sponsors, with the aim of helping them to 
scrutinise Crossrail. The team’s reporting is based on detailed reviews and 
analysis of Crossrail data.22 

2.4 With the advent of the delays, the adequacy of this governance model has 
been called into question. The autonomy given to Crossrail encouraged an 
over-reliance on the Crossrail executive’s accounts of progress. Both Sponsors 
have referred to the fact that Crossrail had executive responsibility for 
delivering the programme to explain why they did not strongly challenge 
Crossrail’s assurances that December 2018 was a deliverable date.23 The 
Sponsors have also stated that the light-touch approach made it difficult for 
them to fully understand the programme and its risks. In turn, this prevented 
them from thoroughly scrutinising the Crossrail executive. The increase in the 
cost of the programme made this scrutiny role not only advisable but 
expected, if the Sponsors were to adequately hold Crossrail financially 
accountable and protect the public purse.  

2.5 As we now know, the risk of relying too strongly on Crossrail was 
compounded by the fact that there were insufficient people at the later stages 
of the programme with the appropriate skills and experience with systems 
integration. While the skills profile of the team was appropriate for the initial 
stages–when Crossrail was essentially a large construction project–it was not 

“There is a genuine question about whether the governance arrangements that 
have been put in place for this project are right and, if I was setting something 
up of this nature again, I am not sure I would choose the arrangements that we 
have.”  

Heidi Alexander, Deputy Mayor for Transport, 9 January 2019 

Page 80



London Assembly | Transport Committee     16 
 

specialised enough to deliver on the more complex elements of the later 
stages of the programme.24 This was reflected in the executive’s failure to 
properly assess the cumulative effect of individual risks, which included major 
delays on station completion and testing of signalling systems.  

2.6 In addition, the governance model did not give a prominent role to the 
independent reviewer. Although in theory Jacobs was contracted to help the 
Sponsors scrutinise Crossrail, in practice their advice was largely missed or 
ignored. Table 3 shows excerpts from Jacobs reports that flag serious risks to 
the December 2018 opening, as early as January 2018. As the table highlights, 
these risks were not reflected in communications to any of the major 
governance bodies and stakeholders. In fact, an opposite, and as we now 
know inaccurate, representation of risk was communicated. The question 
remains of the role the Project Representative was there to play, and why the 
Sponsors did not rely more strongly on their advice to steer how they 
managed Crossrail.  

  

“The management team did not understand the risk profile they were carrying 
and no matter who you are, if you are non-Executive attending a meeting one or 
two days a month or five times a month, you are relying on the Executive being 
competent to do it. I am not saying they are incompetent; I am just saying they 
clearly did not understand the massive risk that they had ratcheted up.”  

Mark Wild, Crossrail Chief Executive, 9 January 2019 

Page 81



London Assembly | Transport Committee     17 
 

Table 3: Assessment of risk 

When? What did Jacobs Reports 
say?25 

What did the Crossrail 
Board Minutes say?26 

What did the Sponsor 
Board Minutes say?27 

What did the TfL Board 
Minutes say?28 

What did the weekly 
briefing to the Mayor 
say?29 

January "significant risk to formal 
Handover in July 2018 
and possibly Stage 3 
Opening in December 
2018" 
 
[10 January 2018] 

"Overall the programme 
is now at 90.1% complete 
with progress slightly 
ahead of plan in period" 
 
[1 February 2018] 

DfT asks "when sponsors 
should start to consider 
contingency options." 
 
[26 January 2018] 

"There are some 
increasing cost and 
schedule pressures on 
the project that Crossrail 
Ltd will continue to 
manage. The overall 
programme for 
December 2018 remains 
on track." 
 
[30 January 2018] 

N/A - weekly briefings 
only started in February 

March "[The schedule] is 
ambitious, contains 
virtually no float, and 
relies upon right-first-
time delivery at 
productivity rates that 
have not been sustained 
in the past. There is 
therefore a high risk that 
the start dates for Stage 
3 Opening, Trial Running 
and Trial Operations will 
not be achieved." 
 
[1 March 2018] 

"Progress of 0.8% was 
achieved in the period 
against the plan of 0.8% 
reflecting good progress 
against nearly all 
contracts" 
 
[29 March 2018] 

"DfT notes the starkness 
of [Jacobs’] assessment" 
 
"Crossrail Limited need to 
be clear on the criteria, 
timing and checkpoints 
for establishing the 
deliverability of Stage 3. 
This is important to 
ensure effective planning 
can occur in the event 
that the schedule 
becomes unachievable." 
 
[22 March 2018] 

"Crossrail Ltd is 
continuing to actively 
manage the increased 
cost and schedule 
pressures and has 
developed a revised 
delivery schedule that 
sets out the programme 
to achieve opening of the 
Elizabeth Line in 
December 2018." 
 
[20 March 2018] 

Stage 3 is "on target" 
 
"Further improvement is 
still required to meet the 
milestones that delivers 
the Elizabeth line on 9 
December 2018." 
 
[26 March 2018] 

 

P
age 82



London Assembly | Transport Committee     18 
 

 

 

When? What did Jacobs Reports 
say? 

What did the Crossrail 
Board Minutes say? 

What did the Sponsor 
Board Minutes say? 

What did the TfL Board 
Minutes say? 

What did the weekly 
briefing to the Mayor 
say? 

April "There is very little 
schedule float available 
and a high risk remains 
that that Stage 3 
Opening will not be 
achieved" 
 
[26 April 2018] 

"Schedule pressures 
continue to be felt across 
most contracts…Although 
many of these missed 
milestones did not affect 
the Master Operating 
Handover Schedule…, 
they still need to be 
addressed" 
 
[24 May 2018] 

Simon Wright said that 
"Crossrail was absolutely 
focused on opening in 
December which was still 
achievable if everyone 
‘pulled their weight’" 
 
[18 May 2018] 

"Crossrail Ltd…is 
resolutely focused on 
achieving the opening of 
the Elizabeth Line in 
December this year and 
completion of the full 
service in December 
2019" 
 
[23 May 2018] 

"A revised plan is under 
development...prior to 
commencement of 
Elizabeth Line services in 
December 2018" 
 
[21 May 2018] 

June "The time available to 
achieve Stage 3 Opening 
is reducing. There 
remains a high risk that 
Stage 3 Opening may be 
delayed or the opening 
will be sub-optimal" 
 
[21 June 2018] 

"Schedule pressures 
continued to generate 
very considerable 
concern about the 
amount of time available 
for handover and testing" 
 
"It is becoming clear that 
as works were not 
physically completed on 
time, there is an 
accumulation of 
pressure" 
 
[19 July 2018] 

"Sponsors noted the 
increasing schedule risks 
and agreed that they 
would discuss the need 
for alternative or 
contingency options"  
 
“Sponsors may wish to 
consider the possibility 
of delaying Stage 3 to 
ensure a reliable service 
in the context of learning 
lessons from the 
timetable challenges” 
 
[25 June 2018] 

N/A - no meeting until 
July 

"The combined results of 
these reviews…will be 
considered in July and an 
overall assessment of 
readiness for a December 
launch will be taken" 
 
[4 July 2018] 

P
age 83



London Assembly | Transport Committee     19 
 

Lessons learned 
2.7 Crossrail’s governance model has positive elements (e.g. the protection 

against political interference) that should not be lost. However, to withstand 
the complexity of the project, the governance model needs to adapt to 
become more fit-for-purpose. As already pointed out by the NAO in 2014,30 
the requirements of projects vary as they mature. With Crossrail, the maturity 
of the project was accompanied by an increase in risk that would have 
benefited from a more hands-on approach from Sponsors.  

Recommendation 1 – The governance model  

Sponsors should ensure governance systems are robust and remain fit-for-
purpose throughout the lifetime of a project. Governance systems must 
involve key players from the start, and embed adequate financial and 
accountability processes to protect the public purse right from the outset. 
Reviews of governance systems should take place periodically, in particular 
when there is a clear shift in the nature of the project (e.g. from 
construction to fit-out, to operation).  

2.8 Management teams for large, complex and high-risk infrastructure projects 
should not remain static. As Crossrail’s experience has shown, project 
requirements change as programmes evolve. Management teams need to be 
ready to respond to these changing requirements. Ensuring this is the case 
may involve reviewing the skills profile of the team and making new 
appointments to support the adequate management and delivery of the 
project.  

Recommendation 2 – Skills profile in the project  

Sponsors should ensure Crossrail has the right skillset now for successful 
programme completion. For future projects, Sponsors should review the 
skills needed throughout the lifetime of the project, to ensure the right 
technical capacity is present at each stage. 

2.9 The role of the independent reviewer is of utmost importance, especially in 
governance structures where the Sponsors have a hands-off approach. In 
Crossrail, the Project Representative fulfilled its role of providing advice and 
reporting on risks. However, it seems that the governance structure 
encouraged dynamics that led the Sponsors to prioritise Crossrail’s view of 
risk over Jacobs’.  

  

Page 84



London Assembly | Transport Committee     20 
 

 

Recommendation 3 – The role of independent reviewers 

The role of independent reviewers on Crossrail and other infrastructure 
projects needs to be clearly and fully built into the governance structure. 
Sponsors should strengthen the role of independent reviewers by clearly 
outlining from the outset the actions to be taken in response to their 
recommendations. This will not only provide assurance of deliverability, but 
will also protect the public purse.  

  

Page 85



London Assembly | Transport Committee     21 
 

3. Leadership and 
corporate culture  

Key findings 

▪ Crossrail leadership fostered an overly optimistic culture, where 
risks were largely overlooked instead of escalated, properly 
communicated, and addressed. 

▪ Regardless of how the project was progressing, the importance of 
achieving the completion date overpowered any professional 
skepticism or critical assessment of risk.  

▪ Former Crossrail executives have not accepted any responsibility 
for the inadequate management of the project in its later stages, 
and the impact this has had on the opening delay and increase in 
project costs. 

  

Page 86



London Assembly | Transport Committee     22 
 

3.1 In addition to criticisms of the governance system, stakeholders have also 
raised concerns about a corporate culture that has suffered from optimism 
bias. In other words, the executive team seems to have been so committed to 
the December 2018 deadline that they thought the unachievable was 
achievable despite the existence of clear red flags. We experienced this 
optimistic outlook first-hand. In June, during our visit to the Tottenham Court 
Road site, the then Chair of Crossrail, Sir Terry Morgan, confirmed that 
December 2018 was still achievable. This was supported by former Crossrail 
executive Simon Wright31: 

3.2 By fostering this overly optimistic culture, the Crossrail executive failed to 
encourage sufficient professional skepticism and the escalation of potential 
risks. As Table 3 shows, the Project Representative had been communicating 
serious risk to the opening date since early 2018. However, there was no 
recognition of the threats to the programme until August, four months before 
the planned opening date, despite the fact that 1) several crucial elements of 
the programme started falling behind schedule in 2016; and 2) the cost of 
delivering Crossrail had substantially increased.  

3.3 Sponsors also failed to keep this culture in check by insufficiently scrutinising 
and challenging the Crossrail executive. The Commissioner of TfL told us that 
having a fighter mentality was characteristic of project managers of large 
infrastructure programmes: 

3.4 Likewise, former Crossrail chief executives Andrew Wolstenholme and Simon 
Wright justified an optimistic business culture by suggesting it was needed to 
keep the workforce motivated.32 They defended this position despite the 
opening delay.  

3.5 Crossrail executives have not recognised the negative impact undue optimism 
has had on the programme. This sheds light on a wider problem of Crossrail 
senior leadership not holding itself accountable for the delay, despite the 
steep remuneration packages they received to deliver the project on time.  

“When you are in this situation you fight extraordinarily hard to maintain the 
schedule because everybody knows how important it is. Therefore, we were 
looking at all sorts of options through the early part of the year into May. In 
June we started to feel that we had a significant schedule challenge…Of course, 
with a programme – and I have been working in programmes all my life, for 40-
plus years – you fight tooth and nail to retain your schedule right to the very 
last moment and look at all sorts of options and mitigations.”  

Simon Wright, Former Crossrail Chief Executive, 6 September 2018 

“The way that…senior project directors and project programme managers are 
wired or their DNA, if you like, is about surmounting insurmountable problems.”  

Mike Brown, Commissioner of TfL, 21 December 2018 

Page 87



London Assembly | Transport Committee     23 
 

3.6 The remuneration package for Crossrail executives included annual 
performance bonuses, which varied according to the position. As Chief 
Executive, Andrew Wolstenholme was entitled to 60 per cent of his base 
salary.33 Simon Wright was entitled to 40 per cent of his base salary as 
Programme Director,34 and 50 per cent in his dual role as chief executive and 
Programme Director35 (after Andrew Wolstenholme’s departure). As Finance 
Director, Matthew Duncan was entitled to 40 per cent of his base salary in 
performance bonuses.36  

3.7 Tables 4 and 5 show the performance bonuses received by Crossrail 
executives for their performance in 2015-16 and 2016-17. For 2017-18, the 
following bonuses were approved by Crossrail’s Remuneration Committee: 
£102,976 for Andrew Wolstenholme, £54,055 for Simon Wright, and £38,924 
for Matthew Duncan.37  

3.8 Additionally, Crossrail executives were eligible to participate in the company’s 
Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). Unlike the annual performance bonuses, 
which are based on achievement of performance related objectives, the LTIP 
is focused on the retention of top talent and successful progress through key 
programme milestones. The LTIP is also meant to encourage the achievement 
of Crossrail’s funding and financial targets, as well as the safe delivery of the 
project. The key milestones for 2018-19, as agreed by TfL and Crossrail in 
2013, were the openings of Stages 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the line.38  

3.9 As a result of the delays, Crossrail’s Remuneration Committee denied Andrew 
Wolstenholme, Simon Wright and Matthew Duncan access to their respective 
LTIP pots in 2018. The minutes note that this decision was based on the failure 
of these employees to meet their LTIP targets. The minutes also state that 
Crossrail executives “reluctantly accepted” non-payment of their retention 
bonuses.39 In fact, Andrew Wolstenholme wrote a letter to the Remuneration 
Committee requesting a review of their decision not to release his LTIP 
payment.40 This attitude is symptomatic of a culture that, while encouraging 
unchecked optimism, has also encouraged a denial of responsibility. 

  

Page 88



London Assembly | Transport Committee     24 
 

Table 4: Crossrail senior remuneration (2016-17, in £000)41 

 
Table 5: Crossrail senior remuneration (2017-18, in £000)42 

 

  

Employee Salary 
 

Performance 
related pay 
for 2015-16 

 

Compensation 
for loss of 

employment  

Benefits 
in kind 

 

Total 
Remuneration 

(excluding 
pension 

contributions) 
Sir Terry Morgan, 
Non-Executive 
Chairman 

250 - - 2 252 

Andrew 
Wolstenholme, 
Chief Executive 

463 481 - 2 946 

Simon Wright, 
Programme 
Director 

323 169 - 2 494 

Matthew Duncan, 
Finance Director  

242 27 - 2 270 

Employee Salary 
 

Performance 
related pay 
for 2016-17 

 

Compensation 
for loss of 

employment  

Benefits 
in kind 

 

Total 
Remuneration 

(excluding 
pension 

contributions) 
Sir Terry Morgan, 
Non-Executive 
Chairman 

250 - - 2 252 

Andrew 
Wolstenholme, 
Chief Executive 

477 160 98 2 736 

Simon Wright, 
Programme 
Director 

329 106 - 2 436 

Matthew Duncan, 
Finance Director  

247 112 - 2 361 

Page 89



London Assembly | Transport Committee     25 
 

Lessons learned 
3.10 Unchecked optimism has been a problem within TfL in the past. A 2016 

Budget and Performance Committee report on the now five-years-delayed 
Sub-Surface Upgrade Programme (SSUP) stated that TfL’s management was 
“only interested in presenting good news”.43 The programme was meant to be 
completed in 2018. However, it is now expected to open in 2023. As the 
report notes: 

3.11 The findings from the SSUP on project management and corporate culture 
could be seamlessly applied to Crossrail. While it is understandable that 
project managers have a strong commitment to delivering programmes to 
timelines, it is important that Sponsors do not have the same type of tunnel 
vision. The fact that TfL has experienced this undue optimism–or as described 
in the 2016 SSUP report, “good news culture”–should provide a strong lesson 
for ensuring that checks and balances systems are in place in Crossrail and 
future projects.  

3.12 Infrastructure projects need a culture that balances optimism to keep project 
and staff motivated against reliable communication of risk, productivity and 
project performance.  

Recommendation 4 – Corporate culture  

Crossrail and future infrastructure projects should have a system of 
governance and accountability that encourages a culture of transparency 
and openness, and offers mechanisms for these to be sustained at all levels 
of the organisation. This culture should balance optimism, to keep project 
and staff motivated, against reliable communication of risk, productivity 
and project performance. 

 

Recommendation 5 – Role of sponsors   

Sponsors need to keep an overly optimistic corporate culture in check by 
bolstering the role of independent reviewers, and encouraging consistent 
and strong scrutiny, informed by independent advice.  

 

“Regardless of how the project was progressing, the importance of achieving the 
2018 completion date appeared to overpower any professional skepticism or 
suggestion that things were not going to plan.” 

Transport for London’s Signal Failure, Budget and Performance Committee 
Report, March 2016 

 

Page 90



London Assembly | Transport Committee     26 
 

3.13 Remuneration of programme executives should be commensurate with the 
demands of the job and the level of risk and responsibility to deliver. In its 
latest report on Crossrail, the Public Accounts Committee stated that some of 
Crossrail’s executives are paid much more than senior executives in similar 
DfT’s arm’s-length bodies delivering programmes of equal weight. Steep 
remuneration packages are helpful to attract “the best and the brightest” in a 
highly competitive environment. However, in achieving this objective, 
programme stakeholders must not lose sight of the fact that remunerations 
are being paid with the public purse and must be assessed against delivery. 

3.14 Robust leadership is characterised by critical reflection and assumptions of 
responsibility when things have not gone according to plan, or when they 
could have been done better. Former and current Crossrail executives have 
explained the delays as a “systems issue”. While it is true that there are 
significant shortcomings with the structural and cultural set-up of Crossrail, 
this should not prevent individual accountability, especially when the delays 
resulted in accrued costs for the taxpayer.  

Recommendation 6 – Chief Executive remuneration   

The remuneration packages for chief executives in large infrastructure 
projects should be benchmarked against those for other projects. 
Additionally, the process for setting and assessing performance bonuses 
should be revisited periodically, to ensure the remuneration of programme 
chief executives adequately reflects progress towards the successful 
delivery of a publicly-funded project.  

 
  

Page 91



London Assembly | Transport Committee     27 
 

4. Transparency and 
Communication of 
Risk 

Key findings 

▪ There were multiple communication channels between Crossrail 
Limited and key stakeholders. These channels were both in the 
private and public domains, they were written and oral, and formal 
and informal. The absence of sufficiently detailed record of these 
communications prevents adequate scrutiny and attribution of 
responsibility.  

▪ Evidence from emails between Crossrail Limited and TfL suggests 
that communications to the Mayor were being managed by the TfL 
Commissioner, Mike Brown. Instead of communicating risks head 
on, these were downplayed in the weekly updates to the Mayor. 

▪ Crossrail documents strongly suggest that Sponsors started 
collaborating on the communications strategy for the delay in mid-
August. This, in addition to the known financial challenges, makes 
it difficult to understand how the Mayor claims he was not aware 
of the imminent risk of delay.  

  

Page 92



London Assembly | Transport Committee     28 
 

4.1 The seemingly sudden news of the delay to the December 2018 opening has 
called into question a) how risk is communicated within the organisation and 
to immediate stakeholders; and b) how risk and progress are communicated 
to the public.  

4.2 There seem to be various channels for communicating and recording updates 
on progress and flagging risks. These channels include:  

a) Crossrail Board meetings 

b) Sponsor Board meetings 

c) TfL’s Elizabeth Line Readiness Board meetings 

d) TfL Board meetings (updates from Crossrail leadership) 

e) Verbal briefings to the Mayor 

f) Weekly written briefings to the Mayor 

4.3 This abundance of opportunities for communication has not fully translated 
into transparency or clarity on the events leading to the announcement of the 
delay. For instance, Crossrail Board minutes fail to give a detailed account of 
the issues discussed and the decisions made. The minutes note that 
executives tend to provide Board Members with an informal briefing prior to a 
formal Board meeting. These informal sessions are not minuted and there is 
no explanation given publicly for why these discussions need to be held 
informally.  

4.4 Concerns about the transparency of Crossrail have been raised by the London 
Assembly, with the 2016 GLA Oversight Committee report44 on transparency 
stating:  

4.5 TfL provided a lukewarm response to the report, saying they were working 
with Crossrail and Crossrail 2 “on further steps to ensure a consistent 
approach to transparency.” However, papers from their meetings did not 
become public until after the announcement of the delay. In September 2018, 
the Deputy Mayor for Transport and Crossrail committed to publishing past 
and future board papers and minutes, with some redaction.45  

4.6 The Committee has also expressed concern at TfL’s lack of transparency in its 
oversight of Crossrail. Discussions on the progress of the scheme at TfL Board 
meetings have tended to be short and vague, with little meaningful 

“Despite being a wholly-owned subsidiary of TfL, Crossrail publishes far less 
information than its parent organisation. While the Crossrail website does 
include lists of contracts worth more than £5,000, it does not publish any of 
these contracts in full. It also does not publish papers from its Board meetings, 
which are held in private.” 
Transparency of the GLA Group and Family, GLA Oversight Committee Report, 

February 2016 
 

Page 93



London Assembly | Transport Committee     29 
 

information in covering papers. The Board has tended to go into private 
sessions to discuss the scheme, a practice which continued even after the 
delay announcement.  

4.7 For instance, it is now clear that one of the key points at which the Crossrail 
scheme entered serious difficulty was the electrical explosion that occurred at 
Pudding Mill Lane in late 2017. The former Chair of Crossrail, Sir Terry 
Morgan, reported this to the TfL Board in public in January 2018, but the 
public discussion was curtailed and resumed only in private session. The 
minutes of that Board meeting make only a vague reference to this 
information, noting “issues with the energisation of the tunnel.”46 As a 
response to the public request by the Chair of the Transport Committee, TfL 
Board has now started placing Crossrail as one of the first agenda items. It is 
in fact through TfL Board meetings and London Assembly Transport 
Committee meetings that Crossrail has been given a public hearing.   

4.8 Clarity on what was communicated to the Mayor during verbal briefings is 
also missing. The conflicting accounts on what was flagged by Crossrail during 
the 26 July 2018 briefing to the Mayor provide a prime example. While the 
Mayor asserts that Crossrail remained committed to the December 2018 
opening, former Crossrail chair Sir Terry Morgan has stressed to us that he 
communicated to the Mayor that the December 2018 deadline would not be 
met. 

4.9 Information obtained under a Freedom of Information (FOI) request revealed 
that the communications team at Crossrail started planning for the 
announcement of the delay in mid-August. The Crossrail communications 
team prepared press release drafts that were shared with and amended by 
the TfL communications team earlier than the date of the delay 
announcement. In response to this, TfL has suggested their communications 
team was merely “prudent scenario planning” in case the delay materialised.47 
They have also suggested top leadership at TfL were not involved in this 
communications planning.  

4.10 However, as Table 6 shows,48 communications planning presentations suggest 
the Sponsors were actively involved in developing a communications strategy 
surrounding the delay. For instance, the presentations indicate that the 
Sponsors are aware of the “schedule issue” and that they have yet to agree on 
a timeline for the announcement, noting the different preferences by DfT, TfL 
and Crossrail. Here, it is difficult to believe that “Sponsors” refers to 
communications teams and not to top leadership at DfT and TfL, given the 
level of risk and importance of decisions made about the delay.  

  

Page 94



London Assembly | Transport Committee     30 
 

Table 6: Crossrail communications strategies 

Document Date (as noted in 
the document) 

What does it say? 

Communications 
Approach – 
Programme 
Schedule 
(PowerPoint 
Presentation) 

16 August 2018 
Slide 2 – Introduction  
• “No announcement will be made before the 

Crossrail Board meeting on 29 August – however 
news could enter into public domain at any time 
between now and the formal announcement 
date”  

 
Slide 3 – Context  
• “Sponsors are aware of the schedule issue” 
• “Given the close proximity to the WMS, questions 

are likely to be raised about timing and whether 
this information was known in July” 

• “Crossrail and Sponsors will need to align on the 
reasons for the delayed schedule” 

 
Slide 4 – Risks Overview 
• “Revised schedule is leaked – information 

becomes known before formal announcement” 

Communications 
Approach – 
Programme 
Schedule 
(PowerPoint 
Presentation) 

22 August 2018 
Slide 2 – Timeline 
• “Following a decision by the Crossrail Board, an 

announcement would ideally be made in early 
September” 

• “Sponsors have not formally agreed on a 
timeline for the announcement. DfT’s preference 
is for an announcement following return of House 
of Commons on 3 Sep. TfL’s preference is likely to 
be for an announcement following Sponsor Board 
on 3 Sep. TfL also required to issue a market’s 
update.”  

 
Slide 3 – Context 
• “Key to the delivery of the communications 

output will be an agreed narrative that explains 
the contributory factors in a concise way.”  

• “This narrative is under discussion with Sponsors 
and outlines how the programme became 
compressed.”  

 
Slide 4 – Risks Overview 
• “Revised schedule is leaked – information 

becomes known before formal announcement” 
 
Slide 6 – Outline timeline for announcement 
• “DfT and TfL currently propose that no media 

interviews should be undertaken.” 

Page 95



London Assembly | Transport Committee     31 
 

4.11 The transparency of the weekly written updates to the Mayor has also been 
questioned. The weekly reports are composed of three sections: 1) a general 
section with highlights on the progress of the scheme; 2) a section on 
Bombardier updates; and 3) a table summary of the Master Operating 
Handover Schedule (MOHS) milestones. The MOHS table summary was only 
included in these briefings until 12 July 2018. 

4.12 These reports are written and reviewed by Crossrail and TfL staff, with 
continuous back-and-forth emails over the span of several days, before a draft 
is submitted to the TfL Commissioner for approval and then sent to the 
Mayor’s Office. As the images below show,49 there have been several 
instances where the Commissioner has altered key messages of risk. For 
instance, in one of the February updates, the Commissioner deleted text on 
limited float and ambitious timelines, originally in the draft. The risk of limited 
float was highlighted by the Project Representative in their reports early in 
2018 to indicate that the December 2018 opening was increasingly unfeasible. 
Likewise, the Commissioner deleted mention of a risk with the testing 
schedules, which were originally planned for early October 2018. Delays with 
the testing have been a major cause of the delay with the central opening. 
These are important omissions as they certainly change the view on risks on 
the programme. 

“Nothing ever went to the Mayor that first had to go through some degree of 
scrutiny… We did issue a weekly briefing note to the Mayor and I am looking 
at one dated 19 June [2018]. As I said earlier, this does not go to the Mayor 
without it being cleared by TfL first…that second paragraph in what went to 
the Mayor was deleted by TfL.” 

Sir Terry Morgan, former Crossrail chair, 9 January 2019 
 

Page 96



London Assembly | Transport Committee     32 
 

 

   

Image 1: Email Thread - February Weekly Update to the Mayor Image 2: Email Thread - March Weekly Update to the Mayor 

P
age 97



London Assembly | Transport Committee     33 
 

Image 3: Email Thread - May Weekly Update to the Mayor Image 4: Email Thread - May Weekly Update to the Mayor  

P
age 98



London Assembly | Transport Committee     34 
 

Image 6: Email Thread - August Weekly Update to the Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Image 5: Email Thread - June Weekly Update to the Mayor 

P
age 99



London Assembly | Transport Committee     35 
  
 

Lessons learned 
4.13 Transparency and open communication are indispensable for projects funded 

by the public purse. It is important that all stakeholders, including future 
passengers, have the opportunity to know and understand the decisions that 
are being made on large, expensive, high-risk projects. Likewise, thorough 
reporting of these decisions is necessary to ensure accountability and scrutiny. 

Recommendation 7 – Access to board meetings  

Decision-making on major projects should occur in formal meetings. These 
meetings should be comprehensively minuted and recorded. Further, 
barring commercially-sensitive business, these meetings (e.g. Crossrail 
Board and Sponsor Board) should be public, in particular given that funding 
is coming from the public purse.  

4.14 Crossrail documents strongly suggest that Sponsors started collaborating on 
the communications strategy and press statements for the delay in mid-
August. This, in addition to the known financial challenges, makes it difficult to 
understand how the Mayor was not aware of the imminent risk of delay at a 
point earlier than the official announcement. As Chair of TfL, the Mayor needs 
to keep hold of the organisation he is leading. The evidence seems to suggest 
that TfL did not fully communicate, and sometimes omitted, key pieces of 
information to the Chair, the Mayor of London. 

4.15 Evidence from emails between Crossrail Limited and TfL suggests that 
communications to the Mayor were being managed by the TfL Commissioner, 
Mike Brown. Instead of communicating risks head on, these were downplayed 
in the weekly updates to the Mayor. This raises serious concerns about the 
role of the Commissioner and his ability to support the Mayor as Chair of TfL. 

Recommendation 8 – The Mayor as Chair of TfL  

The Mayor and TfL Board must strengthen control over TfL, and implement 
the necessary processes to allow them to remain fully informed and on top 
of progress on the projects they are ultimately accountable for. 

 

Recommendation 9 – The Commissioner’s Role  

Given the strong evidence presented in this report, we recommend that the 
Commissioner reflects on whether he is fit to fulfill his role in TfL. 

  

Page 100



London Assembly | Transport Committee     36 
  
 

5. Project Design  

Key findings 

▪ While innovative, the project has also been complex, from the 
design of the stations to the number of signalling systems to be 
integrated into the programme. This level of complexity on various 
elements of the programme has posed a risk to budget and 
schedule pressures for delivering Crossrail.  

▪ Complementary works are delayed and have not prioritised station 
enhancements, such as step-free access, which could bring 
immediate benefits to passengers.   

  

Page 101



London Assembly | Transport Committee     37 
  
 

5.1 Crossrail Limited is delivering a complex project. The complexity comes largely 
from the state-of-the art elements of the programme that are meant to be 
integrated with one another to deliver an effective, safe and comfortable 
service.  

5.2 Crossrail’s new Class 345 trains involve new systems and software. They are 
200 metres long–twice the length of a tube train–and have nine carriages with 
the capacity of carrying 1,500 passengers.50  

5.3 The programme also involves the construction of ten new stations and the 
enhancement of 31 existing stations. Station platforms are around 240 metres 
long each to be able to accommodate the long new trains.51 The stations 
require a range of complex IT systems, designed to help manage the stations 
and ensure passengers can move efficiently and safely through the stations. 
As reported by the NAO, the stations have been designed “to a high 
architectural specification.”52 The design features are complex and bespoke – 
for instance, in Paddington station a large steel and glass canopy will be used 
to bring in natural light.  

5.4 There have been significant delays to the completion of the new stations and 
to complementary works to the existing stations. The plans for completing 
these works have re-prioritised the elements to focus on, and step-free access 
will not be delivered until much later in the programme.53   

5.5 The complexity of the programme is also related to the signalling systems 
being deployed for the Elizabeth Line. The line will use three different 
signalling systems, with the line running on Network Rail infrastructure in the 
east and west sections, and TfL infrastructure in the centre. As Box 1 suggests, 
this approach is highly complex. In fact, this type of transition between 
signalling systems has not been used in the UK before.54 55 

 

 

 
 

“There are 60,000 individual items on Crossrail [stations] that need controlling 
and integrating. The task is huge.”  

Mark Wild, Crossrail Chief Executive, 30 January 2019 

“One of the problems that we are dealing with here is the fact that we are 
trying to integrate three signalling systems. We need to find a way to simplify 
big infrastructure projects…With the nature of signalling arrangements for 
example, on Crossrail 2, whilst it might sound a bit geeky, that needs to be 
considered right at the outset.”  

Heidi Alexander, Deputy Mayor of London for Transport, 12 September 2018 

Page 102



London Assembly | Transport Committee     38 
  
 

Box 1: Crossrail signalling explained 

Crossrail will use three separate signalling systems: Train Protection Warning 
System (TPWS), Communication Based Train Control (CBTC) and European Train 
Control System (ETCS).  

The CBTC will be used in the Central Operating Section. At the western end, 
Crossrail trains will operate under the ETCS and TPWS systems. ETCS signalling is 
being implemented on the whole line between Paddington and Heathrow. The 
responsibility for the implementation of signalling systems lies with the owners of 
the rail infrastructure, namely Network Rail between Paddington and the airport 
junction, and Heathrow Airport Limited between the junction and the airport 
terminal stations. For trains continuing to Maidenhead and Reading, the TPWS will 
be used. In the east, Crossrail will also use TPWS. 

ETCS was supposed to be in place to the west of London, from Paddington, but 
has only been implemented in the Heathrow Tunnel. This has added to the 
complexity of signalling integration as there is an additional interface to account 
for between ETCS in the airport junction and the Network Rail legacy signalling 
system, TPWS, in the eastern line from Paddington. 

The information from these three separate signalling systems will be integrated by 
the on-board software Train Control and Management System (TCMS). The ability 
of this software to switch between these three systems, as trains move along the 
various parts of the route, will guarantee the safe and efficient operation of 
Crossrail.  

  

Page 103



London Assembly | Transport Committee     39 
  
 

Lessons learned 
5.6 While innovative, the project has also been complex, from the design of the 

stations to the number of signalling systems to be integrated into the 
programme. Although we welcome and strongly encourage innovations 
around passenger safety and accessibility, and ensuring stations, track and 
trains are brought up to modern standards, it is important to note that the 
more complex a project is, the higher the likelihood of having risks to safety, 
timelines and budget.  

5.7 We understand that under a time crunch, re-prioritising works is necessary. 
However, there are certain station improvements, such as step-free access, 
that can be delivered at a lower cost than others, and which can bring 
immediate benefits to passengers. If these works are placed at the end of 
major infrastructure programmes, there is greater risk of slippage and 
cancellation.  

Recommendation 11 – Complementary works  

Future infrastructure projects should make plans to deliver complementary 
works–including step-free access–at the outset. 

 

  

Recommendation 10 – Complex infrastructure  

Future infrastructure projects should strive to keep designs simple, 
incorporating standard rather than bespoke features, in order to reduce 
risks to budget and timelines, and protect the public purse against 
overspend. 

Page 104



London Assembly | Transport Committee     40 
  
 

Our approach 

At its five public evidence sessions, the committee took oral evidence from 
the following guests: 

• Rupert Walker, Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail  

• Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London 

• Mike Brown, Commissioner, Transport for London 

• Sir Terry Morgan, former Chair, Crossrail Ltd 

• Simon Wright, Chief Executive, Crossrail Ltd 

• Meliha Duymaz, Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail 

• Howard Smith, Operations Director, Crossrail  

• Simon Wright, former Chief Executive, Crossrail 

• Andrew Wolstenholme, former Chief Executive, Crossrail 

• Heidi Alexander, Deputy Mayor of London for Transport 

• Tony Meggs, Chair, Crossrail Ltd 

• Mark Wild, Chief Executive, Crossrail Ltd 

• David Hughes, Director of Strategy and Network Development, London 
Underground, TfL 

The committee also reviewed and analysed the following documents during 
the investigation: 

• Adverse Event Notices 

• Crossrail Limited Board minutes 

• Crossrail Sponsor Board minutes 

• Crossrail Remuneration Committee minutes 

• Transport for London Board agenda papers and minutes 

Page 105



London Assembly | Transport Committee     41 
  
 

• Elizabeth Line Readiness Board agenda papers  

• Weekly Updates to the Mayor  

• Correspondence between Crossrail and Transport for London 

• Jacobs reports  

• Master Operational Handover Schedule and Crossrail Board Risk 
Register  

• Crossrail communications strategy and planning documents 

• Draft and final press releases from Crossrail 

  

Page 106



London Assembly | Transport Committee     42 
  
 

References 

1 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-
information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line  
2 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-
information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line 
3 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-
information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line 
4 National Audit Office, A Memorandum of the Crossrail Programme, 28 
February 2019  
5 Written Statement, 10 December 2018, information retrieved from: 
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-
answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2018-12-10/HCWS1165/ 
6 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: 
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/news/articles/update-on-crossrail-rolling-stock-
depot-procurement 
7 TfL Business Plan 2019-24 
8 KPMG Independent Review of Crossrail – Financial and Commercial Report, 
23 January 2019 
9 TfL Board Meeting, 30 January 2019 
10 KPMG Independent Review of Crossrail – Financial and Commercial Report, 
23 January 2019 
11 KPMG Independent Review of Crossrail – Financial and Commercial Report, 
23 January 2019 
12 Crossrail update to London Assembly’s Transport Committee, 4 April 2019, 
retrieved from: http://content.tfl.gov.uk/caroline-pidgeon-monthly-update-
apr-19.pdf 
13 National Audit Office, A Memorandum of the Crossrail Programme, 28 
February 2019 
14 TfL Board Meeting, 27 March 2019 

 
 

 
 

Page 107

https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line
https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line
https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line
https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line
https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line
https://tfl.gov.uk/travel-information/improvements-and-projects/elizabeth-line
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2018-12-10/HCWS1165/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2018-12-10/HCWS1165/
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/news/articles/update-on-crossrail-rolling-stock-depot-procurement
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/news/articles/update-on-crossrail-rolling-stock-depot-procurement
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/caroline-pidgeon-monthly-update-apr-19.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/caroline-pidgeon-monthly-update-apr-19.pdf


London Assembly | Transport Committee     43 
  
 

 
 
15 Financial Times, "Crossrail reshaping property market along its route”, 6 
September 2016, retrieved from: https://www.ft.com/content/c6dae4bc-
1b87-11e6-b286-cddde55ca122  
16 Mayoral Decision, 12 February 2019, retrieved from: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2430-crossrail-business-rates-
supplement-2019-20  
17 Crossrail 2 website, information retrieved from: 
https://crossrail2.co.uk/discover/funding/ 
18 London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee Meeting, 7 January 
2019 
19 London Assembly Transport Committee Meeting, 21 December 2018 
20 KPMG Independent Review of Crossrail – Governance Report, 23 January 
2019 
21 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: 
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/news/articles/jacobs-announced-as-crossrail-
project-representative 
22 KPMG Independent Review of Crossrail – Governance Report, 23 January 
2019 
23 London Assembly Transport Committee Meeting, 21 December 2018 
24 London Assembly Transport Committee Meeting, 21 December 2018; Public 
Accounts Committee Meeting, 6 March 2019 
25 Jacobs Project Representative Reports, retrieved from: 
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-
updates#on-this-page-2 
26 Crossrail Board minutes, retrieved from: 
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-board-minutes 
27 Crossrail Sponsor Board minutes, retrieved from: 
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-sponsor-
board-minutes 
28 TfL Board papers, retrieved from: https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-
and-reports/board-papers 
29 Weekly updates to the Mayor, retrieved from: 
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-
updates#on-this-page-2 
30 National Audit Office, Crossrail Report, 24 January 2014  
31 London Assembly Plenary Meeting, 6 September 2018  

 
 

Page 108

https://www.ft.com/content/c6dae4bc-1b87-11e6-b286-cddde55ca122
https://www.ft.com/content/c6dae4bc-1b87-11e6-b286-cddde55ca122
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2430-crossrail-business-rates-supplement-2019-20
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2430-crossrail-business-rates-supplement-2019-20
https://crossrail2.co.uk/discover/funding/
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/news/articles/jacobs-announced-as-crossrail-project-representative
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/news/articles/jacobs-announced-as-crossrail-project-representative
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates#on-this-page-2
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates#on-this-page-2
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-board-minutes
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-sponsor-board-minutes
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-sponsor-board-minutes
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/board-papers
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/board-papers
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates#on-this-page-2
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates#on-this-page-2


London Assembly | Transport Committee     44 
  
 

 
 
32 Transport Committee Meeting, 14 March 2019 
33 Crossrail contract for Andrew Wolstenholme, 4 July 2011  
34 Crossrail contract for Simon Wright, 16 April 2014 
35 Crossrail letter for Simon Wright, 2 March 2018 
36 Crossrail contract for Matthew Duncan, 23 September 2015 
37 Crossrail Remuneration Committee minutes, 24 May 2018 
38 TfL Remuneration Committee, 3 July 2013, retrieved from: 
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/Part-1-Item07-CRL-LTIP.pdf 
39 Crossrail Remuneration Committee minutes, 8 November 2018 
40 Crossrail Remuneration Committee minutes, 1 March 2018 
41 TFL Annual Report and Statement of Accounts 2016/17 
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-annual-report-and-statement-of-accounts-2016-
17.pdf  
42 TFL Annual Report and Statement of Accounts 2017/18 
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-annual-report-and-statement-of-accounts-2017-
18.pdf  
43 London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee Report, “Transport 
for London’s Signal Failure,” March 2016  
44 GLA Oversight Committee Report, “Transparency of the GLA Group and 
Family,” February 2016 
45 London Assembly Transport Committee Meeting, 12 September 2018 
46 TfL Board meeting, 30 January 2018  
47 Cover e-mail to Evening Standard from TfL FOI Case Management Team 
48 FOI documents retrieved from: http://content.tfl.gov.uk/draft-
communications-plan.pdf 
49 Images based on summonsed e-mails available at: 
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-
updates 
50 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: 
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/route/new-trains/ 
51 Crossrail website, information retrieved from: 
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/construction/railway-systems/platform-screen-
doors 

 
 

Page 109

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/Part-1-Item07-CRL-LTIP.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-annual-report-and-statement-of-accounts-2016-17.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-annual-report-and-statement-of-accounts-2016-17.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-annual-report-and-statement-of-accounts-2017-18.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-annual-report-and-statement-of-accounts-2017-18.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/draft-communications-plan.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/draft-communications-plan.pdf
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/route/new-trains/
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/construction/railway-systems/platform-screen-doors
http://www.crossrail.co.uk/construction/railway-systems/platform-screen-doors


London Assembly | Transport Committee     45 
  
 

 
 
52 National Audit Office, A Memorandum of the Crossrail Programme, 28 
February 2019 
53 London Assembly Transport Committee Meeting, 14 March 2019 
54 National Audit Office, A Memorandum of the Crossrail Programme, 28 
February 2019 https://www.railengineer.uk/2016/01/08/signalling-crossrail/ 
55 Rail Engineer, Signalling Crossrail, 8 January 2016, retrieved from: 
https://www.railengineer.uk/2016/01/08/signalling-crossrail/ 

Page 110

https://www.railengineer.uk/2016/01/08/signalling-crossrail/
https://www.railengineer.uk/2016/01/08/signalling-crossrail/


 

London Assembly | Transport Committee     46 
 

Other formats and 
languages 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then 
please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 
 
Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 
Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

 
  
 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk  

 
 
 

 

 

©Greater London Authority 

Page 112



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Tram and Bus Safety in London  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 15 May 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on tram and bus safety in London. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to guests on 

tram and bus safety in London and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final output for the investigation into Tram and Bus Safety 

in London.  

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee is investigating tram and bus safety in London. The first part of today’s 

meeting will focus on tram safety, and the additional safety measures TfL has introduced following 

the Croydon tram derailment in 2016. The second part of today’s meeting will focus on bus safety 

and will examine the progress TfL has made since the committee’s 2017 report ‘Driven to distraction 

– tackling safety on London’s buses’.  

 

 

4.  Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 The first section of the meeting will focus on tram safety in London. The following guests have been 

invited to today’s meeting: 

 Representatives from Transport for London 

 Other guests to be confirmed   

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



        

4.2 The second section of the meeting will focus on bus safety in London. The following guests have 

been invited to today’s meeting: 

 Representatives from Transport for London 

 Other guests to be confirmed  

 

4.3 The Committee is recommended to delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final output from this investigation. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7084 2850 

E-mail: Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 114

mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 15 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2019/20 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for 2019/20 Assembly year as set out in 

the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for an 

investigation into London’s transport now and in the future. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the first such report for this Assembly year. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is aiming to explore in this Assembly year: 

 Tram and bus safety; and 

 London’s transport now and in the future. 

4.2 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2019/20. 

4.3 The Committee’s remaining work programme will be developed over the year. The exact scope and 

timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due course and more 

detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee seeks to maintain 

flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments when scheduling its 

work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue beyond each Assembly 

year.  

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



        

 

Tram and bus safety 

4.4 At today’s meeting the Committee will discuss tram and bus safety in London. Further details are 

provided under another item.   

 

London’s transport now and in the future 

4.5 The Committee will conduct an investigation into London’s transport now and in the future. It is 

proposed the Committee’s meetings in June and July are used to discuss this topic. It is 

recommended the Committee delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair 

and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference. 

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.6 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 

London TravelWatch 
4.7 The GLA Act establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of the London Assembly. 

London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. Following the 
appointment of a new Chief Executive of LTW, officers will be working to establish a work 
programme with LTW for the coming year.  
 
Schedule of meetings 

4.8 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2019/20 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date, with the remainder to be confirmed: 

 Wednesday 12 June 2019, 10.00am - London’s transport now and in the future 

 Wednesday, 10 July 2019, 10.00am - London’s transport now and in the future 

 Wednesday 11 September 2019, 10.00am 

 Wednesday 9 October 2019, 10.00am 

 Tuesday 12 November 2019, 10.00am 

 Tuesday 17 December 2019, 10.00am 

 Wednesday 8 January 2020, 10.00am 

 Tuesday 4 February 2020, 10.00am 

 Thursday 12 March 2020, 10.00am – Meeting with the Transport Commissioner 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Healthy streets Response from Mayor and TfL due by 10 May 2019 

Taxi and private hire Response from Mayor and TfL due by 3 June 2019 

Crossrail Response from Mayor and TfL due by 23 June 2019 

Page 116



        

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7084 2850 

Email: Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 117

mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript

	7 Summary List of Actions
	8 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	08a Appendix 1 - final_-_london_assembly_transport_committee_crossrail_investigation_report_0

	9 Tram and Bus Safety in London
	10 Transport Committee Work Programme

